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This Annual Report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by UOB Kay Hian Private Limited (the “Sponsor”), for compliance 
with the relevant rules of the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”).

This Annual Report has not been examined or approved by SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of this Annual Report, including 
the accuracy, completeness or correctness of any of the information,  statements or opinions made or reports contained in this Annual Report.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Lance Tan, Senior Vice President, at 8 Anthony Road, #01- 01, Singapore 229957, telephone (65) 6590 6881.



Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (“Samurai 2K” or the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is 
a leading aerosol coating specialist which focuses on high performance  coating  solutions  for  the  automotive  
refinishing    and refurbishing industry. We are principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and marketing 

of our products under our own brands. 

Headquartered in Malaysia, our products are manufactured in our production facility 
located  in  Johor  and  are  distributed in countries including Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Philippines, Vietnam,  

Cambodia,  United Kingdom, United States of America,  Singapore and India.

OUR BELIEF

OUR VISION

OUR MISSION

We Change Aerosol, Aerosol Changes 
the World.

To be the world’s respected innovative 
aerosol system provider.

To offer the most innovative aerosol 
systems with the best user enjoyment 
and to create more job opportunities for 
all sprayers in the world.
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THE BIGGEST
PART OF DIGITAL
TRANSFORMATION
IS CHANGING THE
WAY WE THINK

- MR ONG YOKE EN -
(Founder, Executive Director & 

Chief Executive Officer)

LETTER TO
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board, it’s a privilege for me to submit 
the Annual Report of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited 
(“Samurai 2K” or the “Company” and its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 
2023. (“FY2023”).

RESULTS HIGHLIGHT

Even though FY2023 is regarded as a global recovery 
year for organizations, it was a dissimilar situation 
for Samurai 2K Aerosol. The revenue of Samurai 2K 
Aerosol recorded a significant decline by 37.8% from 
MYR 113.04 million in FY2022 to MYR 70.27 million in 
FY2023. The decline in revenue was primarily due to 
the drop in sale in Malaysia and Indonesia markets. 
Other factors include increase in raw materials, 
packing materials and ocean freight cost resulting 
in lower gross profit margin. As a result, the Group 
incurred a net loss of MYR 11.45 million in FY2023 
compared to FY2022 wherein total profit of MYR13.12 
million was recorded.

Nevertheless, if one were to observe Samurai 2K 
Aerosol’s performance during the Covid-19 era; 
FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022, the Group recorded 
revenues of MYR63.1 million, MYR110.6 million 
and MYR113.04 million respectively. Therefore, the 
substantial decline in revenue in FY2023 can partly 
be attributed to the statistical effect of the Covid-19 
exceptional situation high base. Additionally, 
substantial capital expenditure worth MYR26.12 million 
has been recorded due to acquisition of a four adjacent 
shops lots for new corporate workspace, additional 
expenditure for renovation of factory and acquisition 
of plant, machinery and software expenses. Apart 
from all these factors, rapid business expansion in the 
USA and India and our new business venture, Samurai 
O2O (Offline to Online) service led to incurrence of 
considerably huge amount of expenditure.

On a positive note, despite the financial standing 
reflected above, Samurai 2K Aerosol’s Net Debt/
Equity managed to remain in the Net Cash position. 
At the end of the day, in order for one to ascertain the 
growth rate of a company, he or she must first analyse 
the amount of profit that is utilized by the company for 
future growth. With Samurai 2K Aerosol reinvesting its 
profit for development and expansion of its business, 
its financial position may appear to be mediocre 
now, but it will definitely progress and the Group will 
harvest the fruits of its investment in the near future.

 

FY2024: ROADMAP FOR FUTURE 
GROWTH

INNOVATION

The crux of Samurai 2K Aerosol is its R&D Department 
whereby the team led by myself have been relentlessly 
working in order to create revolution in the world 
aerosol industry. With my team’s consistent dedication 
and hardwork over the years, we have successfully 
launched our 2K technology which had been patented 
in over 36 countries. Next, with our post-filled 
colour-matching technology, Tintatek is undergoing 
final round of improvisation which is targeted to be 
launched at the end of  year 2023. Coming up in the 
pipeline, we have two other inventions, Watertek , a 
water-based paint system without chemical solvent 
involved, and Mirrortek, end-product with a long-
lasting reflective chrome coating, set to be launched 
within three years.

Our desire to innovate does not end here. As part of 
our R&D team continues to work towards obtaining 
maximum excellence of Tintatek, Watertek and 
Mirrortek, rest of the team are concurrently involved 
in new projects that would be progressively launched 
in coming years. For further information on our 
innovations and up-coming projects, please refer to 
page 5 of our Annual Report that features an excerpt 
on our 4 groundbreaking technologies.

BUSINESS EXPANSION &
CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

As we delve into omnichannel marketing strategy 
and also, with the commencement of profound use 
of data analytics, there has been drastic increase in 
the number of employees especially from the digital 
marketing and Information Technology departments 
which lead to the acquisition of larger office space.

In the past, Samurai 2K Aerosol has successfully 
penetrated into the USA, India, Indonesia and other 
South East Asia markets. Now, we seek to not only 
expand our business to Australia, China and Europe 
but also to manage and subsequently strengthen our 
position in the existing markets. This goal can only be 
achieved by  having an integrated personalized market 
approach. Keeping that in mind, our Information 
Technology team led by our highly experienced Chief 
Technology Officer has been incessantly working 
over the months to develop our very own Artificial 
Intelligence software to study customer behaviour 
and navigation of  business culture of every particular 
market.
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Apart from that, our online spray service has been developing in a progressive manner ever since its launch in 
April 2022. Currently, we provide door-to-door spray service within Johor Bahru for rims and headlamps wherein 
the service can be booked through Samurai Website. Along the way, quality of the spray service has improved 
in aspects such as expertise of the sprayers and quality of the end-products i.e. minimal cases of defects. We 
anticipate to expand our door-to-door spray service for rims and headlamps to Kuala Lumpur and Indonesia in the 
next few months.

DIVIDEND

The Group exercises financial prudence and discipline. No dividend has been recommended for FY2023 given that 
the Group has recorded a loss.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  AND
APPRECIATIONS

I would like to extend my gratitude to our employees and customers for their long-standing commitment to stand 
by Samurai 2K Aerosol throughout this challenging period. As quoted by Thomas Fuller, the darkest hour is always 
before dawn. With continuous innovations and aggressive business development, I can confidently say that the 
dawn is near.

ONG YOKE EN

Founder and Chief Executive Officer
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AEROSOL PRODUCTS, 
REIMAGINED

Innovation has been the heart and soul of Samurai 2K 
Aerosol. Chief Executive Officer of the organization, Mr 
Ian Ong believes that generation of new ideas is only 
possible once marketplace and business surrounding 
are critically analysed, leading to business gaps in the 
marketplace being identified. Every business gap rep-
resents an unexplored opportunity. With that in mind, 
Samurai 2K Aerosol has successfully orchestrated 
four innovations till date namely, 2K Aerosol System, 
Tintatek, Mirrortek and Watertek. 

2K AEROSOL SYSTEM

During the ideation of Samurai 2K Aerosol’s first 
technology, one of the ultimate priority of Mr Ian 
Ong, was to enhance user convenience. The first gap 
that he identified was the fact that machines such 
as mechanical spray guns and air compressors are 
needed for vehicle spray painting and this compels 
end-users to visit workshops to get their vehicles 
painted. With 2K aerosol technology, end-users can 
paint their vehicles by themselves without involving 
complex machines.

If the integrants of this technology are carefully 
analysed, 2K aerosol system provides storage of two 
components i.e. hardener and resin in an aerosol 
can via a breakable inner sleeve that separates 
both the components. Upon inner sleeve activation 
when needed, it allows a proper mixture of both the 
components before being sprayed.

TINTATEK

Elevating end-users experience has been Samurai 
2K Aerosol’s goal which ultimately led to discovery of 
Tintatek, the World’s first post-filled colour matching 
technology in the painting industry. The selling point 
of this technology is that it allows filling of matched 
paint into the aerosol can under atmospheric pressure 
whereby the paint will subsequently be mixed with a 
prefilled pressurized gas before spraying.

With this technology, end-users would no longer be 
required to visit workshops  to get custom colour to 
be painted on their vehicles. By using the post-filled 
formulation provided by Samurai 2K Aerosol, end-
users will not only be able to come up with custom 
colour and sparkle by themselves in accordance to 
their preference, but they will also be able to explore 
combination of colours by themselves before deciding 
the best custom colour that would suit their vehicles.

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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(2K Aerosol System)
An innovative design that allows the unique storage
of 2 crucial paint components in a can; resin and

hardener separately via a breakable metal inner sleeve.

(Tintatek)
Allows users to create or match million of real life colors 

for virtually any application such as spray paint their car or 
home furniture.



WATERTEK

Over the years, Samurai 2K Aerosol has constantly 
strived to reduce environmental impact of its 
business, considering the nature of its industry. This 
commitment may appear to be challenging but it is not 
impossible. The fact that all products of Samurai 2K 
Aerosol are lead-free reflects its commitment towards 
environmental sustainability. Samurai 2K Aerosol’s 
pursuit in embracing environmental sustainability 
doesn’t end here. 

During the ideation process, one of the problems that 
was noticed by Mr Ian Ong was the nature of aerosol 
products being ungreen. This led to the development 
of water-based paint i.e. Watertek. Watertek marks 
the world’s first water-based paint technology with 
zero Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC). With zero 
VOC content, Watertek contributes to remarkable 
reduction of environmental damages and at the same 
time, emits hardly detectable odour.  

Part of  Samurai 2K Aerosol’s R&D team continues 
to work relentlessly over the months to improvise the 
products; Tintatek, Mirrortek and Watertek in order 
to achieve maximum outcome in terms of durability, 
chemical resistance, glossiness, weather resistance 
and etc.  On the other hand, rest of the team, under 
constant guidance and supervision of Mr Ian Ong 
are involved in new projects that are foreseen to be 
launched gradually, in the near future.

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MIRRORTEK

Mirrortek was developed for end-users who are not only 
interested in achieving long-lasting coating but also, 
an enhanced aesthetic, chrome coating appearance. 
Generally, electroplating process is used to achieve 
chrome paint coating on selected metals. Keeping in 
mind that this would allow the end-product to be used 
on selective surfaces only, Samurai 2K Aerosol’s R&D 
department employed an unconventional approach 
wherein electroless process was used to produce 
chrome effect on various surfaces i.e. plastic, metal, 
steel and etc.

(Mirrortek)
Highly Reflective Mirror Coating

(Watertek)
Environmentally-safe water based paint technology 
featuring Zero VOCs (Volatile Organic Compounds)

Fast Dry & High-Gloss
(Scan to view Tintatek, 

Watertek & Mirrortek video)



REVIEW OF INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue decreased by RM42.77 million or 37.84% 
from RM113.04 million in FY2022 to RM70.27 million 
in FY2023. Overall, year-on-year sales volume 
decreased by 6 million cans or 35.71% from  16.8 
million cans in FY2022 to 10.8 million cans in FY2023, 
mainly due to lower demand generally from Malaysia 
and Indonesia markets.

Gross profit margin decreased from 42.7% in FY2022 
to 29.8% in FY2023. The decrease in the gross profit 
margin was mainly due to the increase of raw material, 
packing material and ocean freight cost.

Other income of RM1.1 million as reported in FY2023 
mainly attributed by interest income.

Administrative expenses decreased by RM2.77 million 
mainly due to absence of performance share-based 
payment in FY2023 which is offset with increase in 
other administration cost due to business expansion 
generally in USA and India markets and for new 
business development (O2O – offline to online) .

Marketing and distribution expenses increased by 
RM5.07 million mainly due to increase in marketing  
activities generally in USA by RM0.59 million, India by 
RM1.16 million, Indonesia by RM2.49 million and other 
countries by RM0.77 million and slight increase in 
offline activities for new business development (O2O-
offline to online) by RM0.062 million.

Net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 
for FY2023 was RM11.45 million.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets as at 31 March 2023 rose by 
RM22.06 million mainly due to purchase of new 
corporate office of RM19.33 million.

Non-current liabilities increased by RM16.06 million 
mainly due to additional bank borrowings by RM16.4 
million for the purchase of corporate offices.

Current liabilities decreased by RM16.5 million 
mainly due to decrease in trade payables caused by 
the decrease in purchase which is in line with the 
decrease in sales.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT REVIEW

In FY2023, net cash used in operating activities 
amounting to RM14.88 million, mainly arising from 
operating cash flow before changes in working capital 
of RM4.27 million, changes in net working capital 
outflow of RM5.36 million and income tax payment of 
RM5.31 million.

In FY2023, we recorded a net cash outflow from 
investing activities of approximately RM25.12 million 
mainly due to purchase of new corporate office, 
additional cost of upgrading and renovation of factory 
purchase of plant and machinery and purchase of 
new Intelligent data software V-1.

In FY2023, we recorded a net cash generated from 
financing activities of approximately RM1.33 million 
due to drawdown of bank borrowing of RM16.40 
million, offset with dividend paid amounted to RM 6.48 
million, interest paid of RM1.23 million, and repayment 
of bank borrowing and lease liabilities amounted to 
RM6.36 million and RM0.88 million. 

As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained a cash 
and cash equivalents balance of RM33.26 million. 

OPERATIONS &
FINANCIAL REVIEW
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

REGISTERED OFFICE

SHARE REGISTRAR

PRINCIPAL BANKER

CONTINUING SPONSOR

AUDITORS

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr Lim Siang Kai
(Non-Executive Chairman & Lead Independent 
Director)
Mr Ong Yoke En
(Founder, Executive Director & Chief Executive 
Officer)
Ms Lim Lay Yong
(Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer)
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong
(Non-Executive Director)
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong
(Non-Executive Director)
Mr Hau Hock Khun
(Independent Director)
Mr Lim Chong Huat
(Independent Director)

MALAYSIA
6 Jalan Dato’ Yunus 1,
Taman Perindustrian Dato Yunus Sulaiman,
Lima Kedai,
81120, Skudai, Johor, Malaysia.

133, North Bridge Road,
#08-03 Chinatown Point,
Singapore 059413

INDONESIA
Jl. Sunter Mas Utara, Blok H1 No 17W
RT 021 RW 008, Sunter Jaya Sub-District, Tanjung Priok 
District, North Jakarta
14350 Indonesia

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
627, Montrose Avenue
South Plainfeld
New Jersey 07080
United States of America

BOARDROOM CORPORATE & ADVISORY
SERVICES PTE LTD
1 Harbourfront Avenue
Keppel Bay Tower
#14-03/07, Singapore 098632

OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION
LIMITED
65 Chulia Street OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED
8 Anthony Road
#01-01
Singapore 229957

BAKER TILLY TFW LLP
600 North Bridge Road
#05-01
Parkview Square
Singapore 188778
Partner-in-charge: Mr Lee Chee Sum Gilbert 
(a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants)
(Date of appointment: since financial year ended 31
March 2021)

Mr Lim Siang Kai (Chairman)
Mr Hau Hock Khun
Mr Lim Chong Huat

Mr Hau Hock Khun (Chairman)
Mr Lim Siang Kai
Mr Lim Chong Huat 

Mr Lim Chong Huat (Chairman)
Mr Hau Hock Khun
Mr Lim Siang Kai

Mr Tan Chee How (FCIS)

CORPORATE
INFORMATION
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CHRISTMAS & CHINESE NEW YEAR 
CELEBRATIONS; UNITING CREATIVITY 
AND FESTIVITY

Samurai 2K Aerosol organized a mini corporate 
Christmas celebration on 23rd December 2022 at 
our headquarters located in Johor Bahru. The venue 
was adorned with dazzling lights and elegantly 
decorated Christmas tree. The event was graced 
by our Chief Executive Officer, Mr Ian Ong who 
thanked all employees for their dedication and 
hardwork throughout the year. In the midst of festive 
atmosphere, a brief birthday celebration was held 
for  employees whose birthdays fall in October, 
November and December.

Thereafter, a creative Christmas gift exchange 
game took place among the top management and 
employees, making the celebration extra memorable. 
The celebration ended with  Christmas themed dinner 
being served for everyone. Samurai 2K Aerosol looks 
ahead to a new year fueled by the bonds formed 
during this joyous celebration.

On 17 February 2023, Samurai 2K Aerosol hosted a 
vibrant corporate event to celebrate Lunar New Year. 
The event was officiated by our Chief Executive Officer, 
Mr Ian Ong who emphasized on   the  importance  
of  team work  in  every  organization. Employees 
engaged in games and interactive activities as they 
indulge in  various authentic Malaysian cuisine.

This    remarkable    event     reflects  the       company’s 
commitment to embracing culture, unity and 
inclusivity and most importantly, cultivating   diversity  
within  the  Samurai  2K  Aerosol   community.

CORPORATE
ACTIVITIES
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CSR : BEACH CLEAN UP AT PERIGI ACEH 
BEACH, PASIR GUDANG

On 17th September 2022, staffs of Samurai 2K 
Aerosol Sdn. Bhd. along with employees from other 
governmental and private organizations such as 
SWCorp, Synergy Sdn Bhd took part in the beach 
clean up  activity  organized  by  Persatuan Skuad 
Alam Sekitar Bestari  Malaysia, a local Environmental 
NGO. Perigi Aceh beach which is located at the 
Straits of Johor  is  not  only  well-known for fishing 
activities but for other attractions such as boating 
activities and authentic seafood.

Being a local attraction spot, the beach often ends up 
having loads of rubbish being littered. The clean up 
activity lasted for four hours and about 0.48 tonnes 
of rubbish were collected within a short span of 
time. Samurai 2K Aerosol hopes that such activity 
will not only spread awareness on environmental 
preservation to public but it would cultivate 
environmental sustainability among employees of 
Samurai 2K Aerosol. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
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BLOOD DONATION CAMPAIGN

GELANG PATAH, JOHOR, 10th JANUARY 2023 - 
Samurai 2K Aerosol in collaboration with Sultanah 
Aminah Hospital, Johor Bahru organized a blood 
donation camp at their headquarters under the 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) initiative. 
According to the CEO of Samurai 2K Aerosol, Mr Ian 
Ong, the company in the past, conducted many in-
house CSR programmes such as school donations 
and beach clean-up activity with the aim not only to 
enhance employee engagement but at the same time, 
to give back to the local and global communities.  

This time around, taking into consideration the 
worrying level of blood supply in the country, Samurai 
2K Aerosol organized a blood donation camp for 
the very first time. Participants of the blood camp 
include both employees and suppliers of Samurai 
2K Aerosol. Those who came forward first went for 
medical evaluation to ascertain whether they are 
fit to donate blood and within 5 hours, 28 pints of 
blood were collected. Mr Ian Ong added that it is 
uplifting to see the display of unity for a noble cause, 
not only by employees but also suppliers of Samurai 
2K Aerosol, in line with one of the core values of the 
organization i.e. unity.  Samurai 2K Aerosol intends to 
aid the national blood bank by frequently organizing 
such activity. 



CORPORATE
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pe
rfo
rm

an
ce
.

Th
e

Bo
ar
d
pu
ts
in
pl
ac
e
a
co
de

of
co
nd
uc
t

an
d

et
hi
cs
,
se
ts

ap
pr
op
ria
te

to
ne
-

fro
m
-th

e-
to
p

an
d

de
si
re
d

or
ga
ni
za
tio
na
l
cu
ltu
re
,
an
d

en
su
re
s

pr
op
er

ac
co
un
ta
bi
lit
y

w
ith
in

th
e

co
m
pa
ny
.D

ire
ct
or
s
fa
ci
ng

co
nf
lic
ts
of

in
te
re
st

re
cu
se

th
em

se
lv
es

fro
m

di
sc
us
si
on
s

an
d

de
ci
si
on
s

in
vo
lv
in
g

th
e
is
su
es

of
co
nf
lic
t.

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
is

in
vo
lv
ed

in
th
e
su
pe
rv
is
io
n
of

th
e
m
an
ag
em

en
t
of

th
e
G
ro
up
’s

op
er
at
io
ns
.
It
re
vi
ew

s
st
ra
te
gi
es
,p
ol
ic
ie
s
an
d
fin
an
ci
al
pe
rfo

rm
an
ce

an
d
as
se
ss
es

ke
y
ris
ks

pr
ov
id
ed

by
M
an
ag
em

en
ta
s
w
el
l

as
th
e
ad
eq
ua
cy

of
in
te
rn
al
co
nt
ro
ls
an
d
ris
k
m
an
ag
em

en
to

ft
he

G
ro
up
.D

ay
-to

-d
ay

m
an
ag
em

en
ta

nd
im
pl
em

en
ta
tio
n
of

bu
si
ne
ss

st
ra
te
gi
es

ar
e
de
le
ga
te
d
to

th
e
Ex

ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire
ct
or
s.

Ea
ch

di
re
ct
or

is
ex
pe
ct
ed

du
rin
g
th
e
co
ur
se

of
ca
rr
yi
ng

ou
t
hi
s
du
tie
s,

to
ac
t
in

go
od

fa
ith

an
d
to

m
ak
e
de
ci
si
on
s

ob
je
ct
iv
el
y
at
al
lt
im
es
,a
s
fid
uc
ia
rie
s
in
th
e
be
st
in
te
re
st
of
th
e
C
om

pa
ny
.

As
at
th
e
da
te
of
th
is
An

nu
al
R
ep
or
t,
th
e
Bo

ar
d
co
m
pr
is
es

of
se
ve
n
(7
)d

ire
ct
or
s
as

fo
llo
w
s:

N
am

e
of

D
ire

ct
or

D
es
ig
na
tio

n
D
at
e
ap

po
in
te
d

M
rL

im
Si
an
g
Ka

i
N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
C
ha
irm

an
an
d
Le
ad

In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or

3
O
ct
ob
er
20
16

M
rO

ng
Yo

ke
En

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire
ct
or
an
d
C
hi
ef

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e
O
ffi
ce
r(
“C
EO

”)
9
M
ar
ch

20
16

M
s
Li
m
La
y
Yo

ng
Ex

ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire

ct
or

an
d
C
hi
ef

O
pe

ra
tin
g
O
ffi
ce
r(
“C
O
O
”)

3
O
ct
ob
er
20
16

D
at
o’
Lo
h
Sh

in
Si
on
g

N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
D
ire
ct
or

16
D
ec
em

be
r2

01
6

D
at
o’
C
ha
ng

C
ho
rC

ho
on
g

N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
D
ire
ct
or

16
D
ec
em

be
r2

01
6

M
rH

au
H
oc
k
Kh

un
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or

16
D
ec
em

be
r2

01
6

M
rL

im
C
ho
ng

H
ua
t

In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or

21
M
ay

20
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Pr
ov
is
io
n

C
od

e
D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
’s
C
om

pl
ia
nc
e
or

Ex
pl
an
at
io
n

Th
e
Bo

ar
d’
s
ro
le
is
to
:

(a
)

pr
ov
id
e
en
tre
pr
en
eu
ria
ll
ea
de
rs
hi
p,
se
ts
tra
te
gi
c
ob
je
ct
iv
es

an
d
di
re
ct
s
th
e
st
ra
te
gi
c
po
lic
ie
s
of

th
e

G
ro
up
,w

hi
le
en
su
rin
g
th
at
th
e
ne
ce
ss
ar
y
fin
an
ci
al
an
d
hu
m
an

re
so
ur
ce
s
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e
fo
rt
he

G
ro
up

to
m
ee
ti
ts
ob
je
ct
iv
es
;

(b
)

es
ta
bl
is
h
a
fra

m
ew

or
k
of

pr
ud
en
ta

nd
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
co
nt
ro
ls
w
hi
ch

en
ab
le
s
ris
ks

to
be

as
se
ss
ed

an
d

m
an
ag
ed
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

sa
fe
gu
ar
di
ng

of
sh
ar
eh
ol
de
rs
’i
nt
er
es
ts
an
d
th
e
G
ro
up
’s
as
se
ts
;

(c
)

re
vi
ew

th
e
m
an
ag
em

en
tp
er
fo
rm
an
ce

an
d
fin
an
ci
al
pe
rfo
rm

an
ce

of
th
e
G
ro
up
;

(d
)

id
en
tif
y
th
e
ke
y
st
ak
eh
ol
de
r
gr
ou
ps

an
d
re
co
gn
is
e
th
at

th
ei
r
pe
rc
ep
tio
ns

af
fe
ct

th
e
G
ro
up
’s

re
pu
ta
tio
n;

(e
)

se
tt
he

G
ro
up
’s
va
lu
es

an
d
st
an
da
rd
s
(in
cl
ud
in
g
et
hi
ca
ls
ta
nd
ar
ds
),
an
d
en
su
re
s
th
at
ob
lig
at
io
ns

to
sh
ar
eh
ol
de
rs
an
d
ot
he
rs
ta
ke
ho
ld
er
s
ar
e
un
de
rs
to
od

an
d
m
et
;a
nd

(f)
co
ns
id
er

su
st
ai
na
bi
lit
y
is
su
es

(e
.g
.
en
vi
ro
nm

en
ta
l
an
d
so
ci
al

fa
ct
or
s)
,
as

pa
rt

of
its

st
ra
te
gi
c

fo
rm
ul
at
io
n
an
d
as
su
m
e
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
y
fo
rc
or
po
ra
te
go
ve
rn
an
ce
.

Al
lD

ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
re
qu
ire
d
to

av
oi
d
si
tu
at
io
ns

w
he
re

th
ei
ro

w
n
pe
rs
on
al
or

bu
si
ne
ss

in
te
re
st
s
m
ay

co
nf
lic
t

or
ap
pe
ar

to
co
nf
lic
tw

ith
th
e
in
te
re
st
s
of

th
e
C
om

pa
ny
.W

he
re

a
di
re
ct
or

ha
s
a
co
nf
lic
to

fi
nt
er
es
t,
or

it
ap
pe
ar
s
th
at

he
/s
he

m
ig
ht

ha
ve

a
co
nf
lic
to

fi
nt
er
es
ti
n
re
la
tio
n
to

an
y
m
at
te
r,
he
/s
he

m
us
ti
m
m
ed
ia
te
ly

di
sc
lo
se

hi
s/
he
ri
nt
er
es
ta
ta

m
ee
tin
g
of
th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
or

se
nd

a
w
rit
te
n
no
tic
e
to
th
e
C
om

pa
ny

co
nt
ai
ni
ng

de
ta
ils

of
hi
s/
he
r
in

th
e
m
at
te
r
an
d
th
e
ac
tu
al

or
po
te
nt
ia
l
co
nf
lic
t
an
d
re
cu
se

hi
m
se
lf/
he
rs
el
f
fro

m
pa
rti
ci
pa
tin
g.

1.
2

D
ire
ct
or
s
un
de
rs
ta
nd

th
e
co
m
pa
ny
’s

bu
si
ne
ss

as
w
el
la

s
th
ei
r
di
re
ct
or
sh
ip

du
tie
s

(in
cl
ud
in
g

th
ei
r

ro
le
s

as
ex
ec
ut
iv
e,

no
n-
ex
ec
ut
iv
e

an
d

in
de
pe
nd
en
t
di
re
ct
or
s)
.
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e

pr
ov
id
ed

w
ith

op
po
rtu

ni
tie
s
to
de
ve
lo
p

an
d

m
ai
nt
ai
n

th
ei
r

sk
ills

an
d

kn
ow

le
dg
e
at
th
e
co
m
pa
ny
’s
ex
pe
ns
e.

Th
e

in
du
ct
io
n,

tra
in
in
g

an
d

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t
pr
ov
id
ed

to
ne
w

an
d

ex
is
tin
g
di
re
ct
or
s
ar
e
di
sc
lo
se
d
in

th
e

co
m
pa
ny
’s
an
nu
al
re
po
rt.

Al
lD

ire
ct
or
s
ex
er
ci
se

du
e
di
lig
en
ce

an
d
in
de
pe
nd
en
tj
ud
gm

en
ti
n
de
al
in
g
w
ith

th
e
bu
si
ne
ss

af
fa
irs

of
th
e

G
ro
up

an
d
ar
e
ob
lig
ed

to
ac
ti
n
go
od

fa
ith

an
d
to
ta
ke

ob
je
ct
iv
e
de
ci
si
on
s
in
th
e
in
te
re
st
of
th
e
G
ro
up
.

Al
ln
ew

ly
ap
po
in
te
d
D
ire
ct
or
s
w
ill
un
de
rg
o
an

or
ie
nt
at
io
n
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
w
he
re

th
e
D
ire
ct
or

w
ou
ld
be

br
ie
fe
d

on
th
e
G
ro
up
’s
bu
si
ne
ss

as
w
el
la
s
th
e
ex
pe
ct
ed

du
tie
s
of
a
di
re
ct
or

of
a
lis
te
d
co
m
pa
ny

an
d
be

pr
ov
id
ed

w
ith

in
du
st
ry
-re

le
va
nt

in
fo
rm
at
io
n.

To
ob
ta
in

a
be
tte
r
un
de
rs
ta
nd
in
g
of

th
e
G
ro
up
’s

hi
st
or
y
an
d
ke
y

m
ile
st
on
es
,
bu
si
ne
ss

op
er
at
io
ns
,
st
ra
te
gi
c

di
re
ct
io
ns

as
w
el
l
as

re
le
va
nt

st
at
ut
or
y

an
d

re
gu
la
to
ry

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e
is
su
es
,t
he

D
ire
ct
or

w
ill
al
so

be
gi
ve
n
th
e
op
po
rtu

ni
ty
to

vi
si
tt
he

G
ro
up
’s
op
er
at
io
na
l,
of
fic
es

an
d
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
an
d
to
ge
th
er

m
ee
tw

ith
th
e
ke
y
m
an
ag
em

en
tp

er
so
nn
el
.A

ll
ne
w
ly
ap
po
in
te
d
D
ire
ct
or
s
w
ill

at
te
nd

tra
in
in
g
cl
as
s
or
ga
ni
se
d
by

Si
ng
ap
or
e
In
st
itu
te
of
D
ire
ct
or
s.
Th
er
e
w
as

no
ne
w
D
ire
ct
or

ap
po
in
te
d

du
rin
g
th
e
ye
ar
un
de
rr
ev
ie
w
.

Th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
up
da
te
d,

fro
m

tim
e
to

tim
e,

w
he
n
ne
w

la
w
s
or

re
gu
la
tio
ns

af
fe
ct
in
g
th
e
G
ro
up

ar
e

in
tro

du
ce
d.

N
ew

re
le
as
es

is
su
ed

by
th
e
SG

X-
ST

w
hi
ch

ar
e
ap
pl
ic
ab
le
to

th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
ci
rc
ul
at
ed

to
th
e
Bo

ar
d.

Th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
en
co
ur
ag
ed

to
at
te
nd

se
m
in
ar
s,

co
nf
er
en
ce

an
d
tra

in
in
g
co
ur
se
s
th
at

w
ill

as
si
st
th
em

in
ex
ec
ut
in
g
th
ei
ro

bl
ig
at
io
ns

an
d
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s
as

D
ire
ct
or
s
to
th
e
C
om

pa
ny
.
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Pr
ov
is
io
n

C
od

e
D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
’s
C
om

pl
ia
nc
e
or

Ex
pl
an
at
io
n

W
hi
le
th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
ge
ne
ra
lly

re
sp
on
si
bl
e
fo
rt
he
ir
ow

n
in
di
vi
du
al
tra

in
in
g
ne
ed
s,
co
nt
in
uo
us

an
d
on
-

go
in
g
tra

in
in
g
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ar
e
m
ad
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
to

th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
fro

m
tim

e
to

tim
e
su
ch

as
co
ur
se
s
on

di
re
ct
or
s’
du
tie
s
an
d
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s
as

w
el
la
s
se
m
in
ar
s
an
d
ta
lk
s
on

re
le
va
nt
su
bj
ec
tf
ie
ld
s.

D
ur
in
g
FY

20
23
,
al
lD

ire
ct
or
s
ha
ve

at
te
nd
ed

th
e
su
st
ai
na
bi
lit
y
tra

in
in
g
co
ur
se

an
d
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
tra

in
in
g

co
ur
se
s:

i)
Su

st
ai
na
bi
lit
y
e-
tra
in
in
g

ii)
C
O
U
R
SE

A
–
Pr
oj
ec
tm

an
ag
em

en
t

iii)
M
&A

C
ou
rs
e

iv
)M

an
ag
em

en
ts
ys
te
m
pr
og
ra
m
m
e

v)
A
PL

U
S
BO

SS
tra

nn
in
g

vi
)B

os
s
bu
si
ne
ss

m
an
ag
em

en
tp
ro
gr
am

m
e

vi
i)
St
ra
te
gi
c
m
ar
ke
tin
g
pr
og
ra
m
m
e

1.
3

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
de
ci
de
s
on

m
at
te
rs

th
at

re
qu
ire

its
ap
pr
ov
al

an
d

cl
ea
rly

co
m
m
un
ic
at
es

th
is
to

M
an
ag
em

en
ti
n

w
rit
in
g.

M
at
te
rs

re
qu
iri
ng

bo
ar
d

ap
pr
ov
al

ar
e

di
sc
lo
se
d

in
th
e

co
m
pa
ny
’s
an
nu
al
re
po
rt.

Th
e
m
at
te
rs
w
hi
ch

sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly

re
qu
ire

th
e
Bo

ar
d’
s
ap
pr
ov
al
or
gu
id
an
ce

ar
e
th
os
e
in
vo
lv
in
g:


m
at
er
ia
la
cq
ui
si
tio
ns

an
d
di
sp
os
al
s
of
as
se
ts
;


m
aj
or
in
ve
st
m
en
ts
;


bo
rro

w
in
gs
;


sh
ar
e
is
su
an
ce
s,
di
vi
de
nd
s
an
d
ot
he
rr
et
ur
ns

to
sh
ar
eh
ol
de
rs
;


co
rp
or
at
e
st
ra
te
gi
es

an
d
ob
je
ct
iv
es
;


G
ro
up
’s
bu
dg
et
an
d
bu
si
ne
ss

pl
an
s;


fin
an
ci
al
an
d
m
an
ag
em

en
tp
er
fo
rm

an
ce
s;


ex
ec
ut
iv
e
co
m
pe
ns
at
io
n;


in
te
rn
al
co
nt
ro
ls
an
d
ris
k
m
an
ag
em

en
t;


fin
an
ci
al
re
su
lts

an
no
un
ce
m
en
ts
;a
nd


co
m
m
itm

en
ts
to
ba
nk
in
g
fa
ci
lit
ie
s
gr
an
te
d
by

fin
an
ci
al
in
st
itu
tio
ns
.

A
fo
rm
al
do
cu
m
en
ts
et
tin
g
ou
tt
he

gu
id
el
in
es

an
d
m
at
te
rs
(in
cl
ud
in
g
th
e
m
at
te
rs
se
to
ut
ab
ov
e)

w
hi
ch

ar
e

to
be

re
se
rv
ed

fo
rt
he

Bo
ar
d’
s
de
ci
si
on

ha
s
al
so

be
en

ad
op
te
d
by

th
e
Bo

ar
d.
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Pr
ov
is
io
n

C
od

e
D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
’s
C
om

pl
ia
nc
e
or

Ex
pl
an
at
io
n

1.
4

Bo
ar
d

co
m
m
itt
ee
s,

in
cl
ud
in
g

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e

C
om

m
itt
ee
s

(if
an
y)
,
ar
e

fo
rm
ed

w
ith

cl
ea
r
w
rit
te
n

te
rm
s

of
re
fe
re
nc
e

se
tti
ng

ou
t

th
ei
r

co
m
po
si
tio
ns
,
au
th
or
iti
es

an
d
du
tie
s,

in
cl
ud
in
g
re
po
rti
ng

ba
ck

to
th
e
Bo

ar
d.

Th
e

na
m
es

of
th
e

co
m
m
itt
ee

m
em

be
rs
,t
he

te
rm
s
of

re
fe
re
nc
e,
an
y

de
le
ga
tio
n
of

th
e
Bo

ar
d’
s
au
th
or
ity

to
m
ak
e
de
ci
si
on
s,

an
d
a
su
m
m
ar
y
of

ea
ch

co
m
m
itt
ee
’s

ac
tiv
iti
es
,

ar
e

di
sc
lo
se
d

in
th
e

co
m
pa
ny
’s

an
nu
al

re
po
rt.

As
at
th
e
da
te
of
th
is
re
po
rt,
th
e
Bo

ar
d
co
m
pr
is
es

se
ve
n
(7
)d

ire
ct
or
s,
th
re
e
(3
)o
fw

ho
m
ar
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
t

D
ire
ct
or
s.
Th
e
N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
C
ha
irm

an
,M

rL
im

Si
an
g
Ka

i,
is
an

In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or

an
d
no
tp
ar
to
ft
he

m
an
ag
em

en
tt
ea
m
,a
nd

as
th
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
s
m
ak
e
up

at
le
as
to
ne
-th
ird

(1
/3
)o
ft
he

Bo
ar
d,
th
er
e

is
a
st
ro
ng

an
d
in
de
pe
nd
en
te
le
m
en
to
n
th
e
Bo

ar
d
an
d
no

in
di
vi
du
al
or

sm
al
lg
ro
up

of
in
di
vi
du
al
s

do
m
in
at
e
th
e
Bo

ar
d’
s
de
ci
si
on
-m
ak
in
g
pr
oc
es
s.

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
ha
s
de
le
ga
te
d
ce
rta

in
fu
nc
tio
ns

to
th
e
va
rio
us

Bo
ar
d
co
m
m
itt
ee
s,
na
m
el
y
th
e
Au

di
ta
nd

R
is
k

C
om

m
itt
ee

(“
A
R
C
”),

N
om

in
at
in
g
C
om

m
itt
ee

(“N
C
”)
an
d
R
em

un
er
at
io
n
C
om

m
itt
ee

(“
R
C
”)
(th

e
“B
oa

rd
C
om

m
itt
ee
s”
).
Ea

ch
of
th
e
Bo
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re
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th
e
Bo

ar
d
w
ith

th
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H
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C
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M
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m
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m
ee
tin
gs

an
d

ea
ch

in
di
vi
du
al

di
re
ct
or
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re
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n
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m
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at
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ra
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op
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m
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m
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at
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is
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m
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at
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M
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t
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at
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m
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at
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at
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d
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at
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at
io
n
on

th
e
va
ria
nc
es

H
al
fy
ea
rly

3
R
ep
or
to
n
on
-g
oi
ng

or
pl
an
ne
d
co
rp
or
at
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at
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at
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os
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ra
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.
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C
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at
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re
gu
la
tio
ns

ar
e
co
m
pl
ie
d
w
ith
.
Th
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d
an
d
Bo

ar
d
C
om

m
itt
ee
s’

m
ee
tin
gs

ar
e
ci
rc
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d
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m
ee
tin
gs

an
d
re
co
rd
s
of

di
sc
us
si
on
s
on

ke
y

de
lib
er
at
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ra
te
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d
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e
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et
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e
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th
e
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d’
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l
D
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or
s
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di
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e

G
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’s
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de
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t
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si
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,
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d

w
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n
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ss
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di
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e
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s
ef
fe
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y.
In
ad
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tio
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e
D
ire
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s,
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th
er

in
di
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du
al
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a
gr
ou
p,

m
ay
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se
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ra
te
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de
pe
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en
t
pr
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es
si
on
al
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ce
,
if
ne
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Th
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l
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of
es
si
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al
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e
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d
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e
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.
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e
co
m
pa
ny
,i
ts

re
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at
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re
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C
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re
vi
ew

ed
an
d
is
of

th
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ta

nd
M
r
H
au

H
oc
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C
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at
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p
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m
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e
Bo

ar
d
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-e
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th
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Bo

ar
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Th
e
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th
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d
m
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be
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Bo
ar
d
an
d
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ar
d
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m
m
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ee
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pr
op
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te
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an
d
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m
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e
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ou
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pe
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d
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p
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.
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d
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d
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e
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
of
th
e
bu
si
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e
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th
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d
an
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e
ex
is
tin
g

co
m
po
si
tio
n
of

th
e
Bo

ar
d
C
om

m
itt
ee
s
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
se
rv
e
th
e
G
ro
up
.I
tp

ro
vi
de
s
su
ffi
ci
en
td

iv
er
si
ty
w
ith
ou
t

in
te
rfe

rin
g
w
ith

ef
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d
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ra
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g
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d’
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m
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n
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te
.

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
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C
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e
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n
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e
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d
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d
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d
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C
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g
or
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%

Bu
si
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M
an
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em

en
t
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ga
lo
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ra
te
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pe
rie
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e

3
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%

R
el
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an
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e
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ex
pe
rie
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e
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%
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c
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an
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ex
pe
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e
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C
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se
d
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pe
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e
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le
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e

4
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%
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e
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d
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s
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n
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w
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g
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m
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n
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e
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e
an
d
di
ve
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:


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N
C
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pe
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
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e
D
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or
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e
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ye
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e
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s,
w
ith
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g
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e
ra
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e
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w
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ch
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e
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ar
d.
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th
e
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m
m
en
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n
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C
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d
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s
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d
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e
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d
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y.
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,
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e
an
d
et
hn
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,t
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C
om
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d
no
ts
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y
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c
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e
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el
y
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he
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m
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g
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m
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e
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y
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e
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en
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g
th
e
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.
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e
N
C
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m
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da
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r
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t
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s
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m
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or
s.
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d
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e
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d
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d
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m
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itt
ee
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th
e
Bo

ar
d
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s
th
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th
e
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rre

nt
si
ze
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e

Bo
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d
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d
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e
Bo

ar
d
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tio
n
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e
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t
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pr
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e
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d
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e

sh
ow

n
in
th
e
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e
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n

C
od

e
D
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ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
’s
C
om
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at
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2.
5

N
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-e
xe
cu
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e

di
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nd
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t
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C
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m
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w
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en
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en
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e
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m
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th
e
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d

an
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or

C
ha
irm

an
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.

Th
e
Bo

ar
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th
e
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de
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w
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e
N
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-E
xe
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e
D
ire
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or
s,
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e
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w
el
l

in
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rm
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of

th
e
G
ro
up
’s
bu
si
ne
ss

an
d
be

kn
ow

le
dg
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e
ab
ou
tt
he

in
du
st
ry

th
e
G
ro
up

op
er
at
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in
.T

o
en
su
re

th
at

th
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
w
el
ls
up
po
rte

d
by

ac
cu
ra
te
,c
om

pl
et
e
an
d
tim

el
y
in
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rm

at
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th
ey

ha
ve

un
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st
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te
d
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ce
ss

to
M
an
ag
em

en
t,
an
d
ha
ve

su
ffi
ci
en
tt
im
e
an
d
re
so
ur
ce
s
to

di
sc
ha
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e
th
ei
r

ov
er
si
gh
tf
un
ct
io
ns

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y.

Th
is

en
ab
le
s
th
e
N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
to

co
ns
tru
ct
iv
el
y
ch
al
le
ng
e
an
d
he
lp

de
ve
lo
p
pr
op
os
al
s
on

st
ra
te
gy

an
d
al
so

re
vi
ew

th
e
pe
rfo
rm

an
ce

of
M
an
ag
em

en
ti
n
m
ee
tin
g
ag
re
ed

go
al
s
an
d
ob
je
ct
iv
es
,a

nd
ex
te
nd

gu
id
an
ce

to
M
an
ag
em

en
t.
Th
e
D
ire
ct
or
s’
ob
je
ct
iv
e
ju
dg
em

en
to

n
co
rp
or
at
e
af
fa
irs

an
d
co
lle
ct
iv
e

ex
pe
rie
nc
e
an
d
kn
ow

le
dg
e
ar
e
in
va
lu
ab
le
to

th
e
G
ro
up

an
d
al
lo
w
s
fo
r
th
e
us
ef
ul
ex
ch
an
ge

of
id
ea
s
an
d

vi
ew

s.

Th
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
s
di
sc
us
s
an
d/
or

m
ee
to
n
a
ne
ed
-b
as
is
w
ith
ou
tt
he

pr
es
en
ce

of
th
e
M
an
ag
em

en
t

on
m
at
te
rs
su
ch

as
th
e
G
ro
up
’s
fin
an
ci
al
pe
rfo
rm

an
ce
,c
or
po
ra
te
go
ve
rn
an
ce

in
iti
at
iv
es
,b
oa
rd

pr
oc
es
se
s,

su
cc
es
si
on

pl
an
ni
ng

as
w
el
la
s
le
ad
er
sh
ip
de
ve
lo
pm

en
ta
nd

th
e
re
m
un
er
at
io
n
of
th
e
Ex
ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire
ct
or
s,

an
d
th
e
ch
ai
rm

an
of
su
ch

m
ee
tin
gs

pr
ov
id
es

fe
ed
ba
ck

to
th
e
Bo

ar
d
an
d
/o
rc
ha
irm

as
as

ap
pr
op
ria
te
s.

Th
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
s
ha
d
m
et

an
d
di
sc
us
se
d
w
ith

th
e
ex
te
rn
al

an
d
in
te
rn
al

au
di
to
rs

on
e
(1
)
tim

e
re
sp
ec
tiv
el
y
in
th
e
ab
se
nc
e
of
ke
y
m
an
ag
em

en
tp
er
so
nn
el
in
FY

20
23
.

C
ha

irm
an

an
d
C
hi
ef
Ex

ec
ut
iv
e
O
ffi
ce
r

Pr
in
ci
pl
e
3:
Th
er
e
is
a
cl
ea
rd

iv
is
io
n
of
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s
be
tw
ee
n
th
e
le
ad
er
sh
ip
of
th
e
Bo

ar
d
an
d
M
an
ag
em

en
t,
an
d
no

on
e
in
di
vi
du
al
ha
s
un
fe
tte
re
d
po
w
er
s
of

de
ci
si
on
-m
ak
in
g.

3.
1

Th
e

C
ha
irm

an
an
d

th
e

C
EO

ar
e

se
pa
ra
te

pe
rs
on
s

to
en
su
re

an
ap
pr
op
ria
te

ba
la
nc
e

of
po
w
er
,

in
cr
ea
se
d

ac
co
un
ta
bi
lit
y,

an
d

gr
ea
te
r
ca
pa
ci
ty

of
th
e

Bo
ar
d

fo
r

in
de
pe
nd
en
td
ec
is
io
n
m
ak
in
g.

Th
er
e
is
a
cl
ea
r
di
vi
si
on

of
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s
be
tw
ee
n
th
e
C
ha
irm

an
an
d
C
EO

,
w
hi
ch

en
su
re
s
th
er
e
is
a

ba
la
nc
e
of

po
w
er

an
d
au
th
or
ity
,
su
ch

th
at

no
on
e
in
di
vi
du
al

re
pr
es
en
ts

a
co
ns
id
er
ab
le

co
nc
en
tra

tio
n
of

po
w
er
.M

rL
im

Si
an
g
Ka

i,
th
e
N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
C
ha
irm

an
an
d
Le
ad

In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
,a
nd

M
rO

ng
Yo

ke
En

,t
he

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire
ct
or
an
d
C
EO

,a
re
no
tr
el
at
ed

to
ea
ch

ot
he
r.

3.
2

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
es
ta
bl
is
he
s
an
d
se
ts
ou
t

in
w
rit
in
g

th
e

di
vi
si
on

of
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s

be
tw
ee
n

th
e

C
ha
irm

an
an
d
th
e
C
EO

.

Th
e
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
ie
s
of
M
rO

ng
Yo

ke
En

,t
he

Ex
ec
ut
iv
e
D
ire
ct
or

an
d
C
EO

,e
nc
om

pa
ss

m
an
ag
in
g
th
e
da
y-

to
-d
ay

bu
si
ne
ss

ac
tiv
iti
es

of
th
e
G
ro
up
,d
ev
el
op
in
g
an
d
ex
ec
ut
in
g
th
e
G
ro
up
’s
st
ra
te
gi
es
,r
ep
or
tin
g
ba
ck

to
th
e
Bo

ar
d
on

th
e
pe
rfo
rm

an
ce

of
th
e
G
ro
up
,a
nd

pr
ov
id
in
g
gu
id
an
ce

to
th
e
G
ro
up
’s
em

pl
oy
ee
s.
Th
e
C
EO

al
so

en
co
ur
ag
es

co
ns
tru
ct
iv
e
co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n
be
tw
ee
n
M
an
ag
em

en
ta
nd

th
e
Bo

ar
d.

3.
3

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
ha
s
a
le
ad

in
de
pe
nd
en
t

di
re
ct
or

to
pr
ov
id
e

le
ad
er
sh
ip

in
si
tu
at
io
ns

w
he
re

th
e

C
ha
irm

an
is

co
nf
lic
te
d,

an
d
es
pe
ci
al
ly
w
he
n
th
e

C
ha
irm

an
is

no
t
in
de
pe
nd
en
t.
Th
e

le
ad

in
de
pe
nd
en
t

di
re
ct
or

is
av
ai
la
bl
e

to
sh
ar
eh
ol
de
rs

w
he
re

th
ey

ha
ve

co
nc
er
ns

an
d
fo
r
w
hi
ch

co
nt
ac
t

th
ro
ug
h

th
e

no
rm
al

ch
an
ne
ls
of

co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n
w
ith

th
e

C
ha
irm

an
or

M
an
ag
em

en
t

ar
e

in
ap
pr
op
ria
te
or
in
ad
eq
ua
te
.

M
r
Li
m

Si
an
g

Ka
i,
th
e

N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e

C
ha
irm

an
an
d

Le
ad

In
de
pe
nd
en
t
D
ire
ct
or

le
ad
s
th
e

Bo
ar
d

di
sc
us
si
on

an
d
al
so

en
su
re
s
th
at

Bo
ar
d
m
ee
tin
gs

ar
e
co
nv
en
ed

w
he
n
ne
ce
ss
ar
y.

H
e
se
ts

th
e
Bo

ar
d’
s

m
ee
tin
g
ag
en
da

an
d
en
su
re
s
th
at
D
ire
ct
or
s
ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

w
ith

co
m
pl
et
e,
ad
eq
ua
te
an
d
tim

el
y
in
fo
rm

at
io
n.

H
e
ch
ai
rs

th
e
Bo

ar
d
m
ee
tin
gs

an
d
en
su
re
s
th
at

ad
eq
ua
te

tim
e
is
av
ai
la
bl
e
fo
r
di
sc
us
si
on

of
al
la

ge
nd
a

ite
m
s,
in
pa
rti
cu
la
rs
tra

te
gi
c
is
su
es
,a
nd

pr
om

ot
es

a
cu
ltu
re

of
op
en
ne
ss

an
d
di
sc
us
si
on

at
th
e
Bo

ar
d.
H
e

al
so

fa
ci
lit
at
es

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
co
nt
rib
ut
io
n
of

N
on
-E
xe
cu
tiv
e
D
ire
ct
or
s
an
d
pr
om

ot
es

hi
gh

st
an
da
rd
s
of

co
rp
or
at
e
go
ve
rn
an
ce
.H

e
en
co
ur
ag
es

co
ns
tru
ct
iv
e
re
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tio
ns

w
ith
in
th
e
Bo

ar
d
an
d
be
tw
ee
n
th
e
Bo

ar
d
an
d

th
e
M
an
ag
em

en
t,
an
d
al
so

en
su
re
s
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
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m
m
un
ic
at
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be
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n
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e
C
om

pa
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an
d
its
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eh
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de
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.

H
e
is

th
e
co
nt
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t
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fo
r
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at
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w
he
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th
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e
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e
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su
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w
hi
ch
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m
m
un
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at
io
n
th
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ug
h
no
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al
ch
an
ne
ls
w
ith

th
e
C
EO

an
d/
or
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lC
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lle
r(
“F
C
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ha
s
no

re
so
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or
w
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re

su
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m
m
un
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at
io
n
is
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te
.H

e
w
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al
so
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ke

th
e
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ad

in
en
su
rin
g
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m
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e
w
ith

th
e

C
od
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Pr
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is
io
n

C
od

e
D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
’s
C
om

pl
ia
nc

e
or

Ex
pl
an
at
io
n

B
oa

rd
M
em

be
rs
hi
p

Pr
in
ci
pl
e
4:

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
ha
s
a
fo
rm
al
an
d
tra

ns
pa
re
nt
pr
oc
es
s
fo
rt
he

ap
po
in
tm
en
ta
nd

re
-a
pp
oi
nt
m
en
to
fd
ire
ct
or
s,
ta
ki
ng

in
to
ac
co
un
tt
he

ne
ed

fo
rp

ro
gr
es
si
ve

re
ne
w
al
of
th
e
Bo

ar
d.

4.
1

Th
e

Bo
ar
d

es
ta
bl
is
he
s

a
N
C

to
m
ak
e

re
co
m
m
en
da
tio
ns

to
th
e

Bo
ar
d
on

re
le
va
nt

m
at
te
rs

re
la
tin
g

to
:

(a
)

th
e

re
vi
ew

of
su
cc
es
si
on

pl
an
s

fo
r

di
re
ct
or
s,

in
pa
rti
cu
la
r

th
e

ap
po
in
tm
en
t

an
d/
or

re
pl
ac
em

en
t
of

th
e

C
ha
irm

an
,t
he

C
EO

an
d
ke
y

m
an
ag
em

en
tp
er
so
nn
el
;

(b
)

th
e
pr
oc
es
s
an
d
cr
ite
ria

fo
r

ev
al
ua
tio
n

of
th
e

pe
rfo
rm

an
ce

of
th
e

Bo
ar
d,

its
bo
ar
d

co
m
m
itt
ee
s

an
d

di
re
ct
or
s;

(c
)

th
e

re
vi
ew

of
tra

in
in
g

an
d

pr
of
es
si
on
al

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

fo
r
th
e

Bo
ar
d

an
d
its

di
re
ct
or
s;
an
d

(d
)

th
e

ap
po
in
tm
en
t

an
d

re
-

ap
po
in
tm
en
t

of
di
re
ct
or
s

(in
cl
ud
in
g
al
te
rn
at
e
di
re
ct
or
s,

if
an
y)
.

Th
e
N
C
co
m
pr
is
es

th
e
In
de
pe
nd
en
tD

ire
ct
or
s,
M
r
Li
m

Si
an
g
Ka

i,
M
r
H
au

H
oc
k
Kh

un
an
d
M
r
Li
m

C
ho
ng

H
ua
t.
Th
e
C
ha
irm

an
of
th
e
N
C
is
M
rL

im
C
ho
ng

H
ua
t.

Th
e
N
C
ho
ld
s
at

le
as
to

ne
(1
)m

ee
tin
g
in
ea
ch

fin
an
ci
al
ye
ar
.T

he
te
rm
s
of

re
fe
re
nc
e
an
d
th
e
ke
y
ro
le
s
of

th
e
N
C
in
cl
ud
e,
in
te
ra
lia
:

(a
)

re
vi
ew
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g
an
d
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in
g
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y
ne
w

em
pl
oy
m
en
t
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re
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te
d
pe
rs
on
s
an
d
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op
os
ed

te
rm
s
of

th
ei
r

em
pl
oy
m
en
t;

(b
)

re
co
m
m
en
di
ng

to
th
e
Bo

ar
d
on

Bo
ar
d
ap
po
in
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en
ts
,
in
cl
ud
in
g
th
e
re
-n
om

in
at
io
n
of

th
e
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tin
g

D
ire
ct
or
s
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r
re
-e
le
ct
io
n
in
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co
rd
an
ce

w
ith

th
e
C
on
st
itu
tio
n
at

ea
ch

an
nu
al

ge
ne
ra
lm

ee
tin
g
an
d

ha
vi
ng

re
ga
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st
em

.

Th
e
Bo

ar
d
is
al
so

re
sp
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si
bl
e
fo
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ov
er
na
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e
of
ris
k
m
an
ag
em

en
ta

nd
de
te
rm
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in
g
th
e
C
om

pa
ny
’s
le
ve
ls

of
ris
k
to
le
ra
nc
e
an
d
ris
k
po
lic
ie
s.
Th
e
Bo

ar
d
co
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ul
ts
w
ith

th
e
ex
te
rn
al
au
di
to
rs

an
d
in
te
rn
al
au
di
to
rs

to
de
te
rm

in
e
th
e
ris
k
to
le
ra
nc
e
le
ve
la
nd

co
rre

sp
on
di
ng
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k
po
lic
ie
s.

Th
e
AR

C
ev
al
ua
te
s
th
e
fin
di
ng
s
of

th
e
ex
te
rn
al

an
d
in
te
rn
al

au
di
to
rs
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th
e
G
ro
up
’s

in
te
rn
al

co
nt
ro
ls

an
nu
al
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.

Al
th
ou
gh

th
e
Bo

ar
d
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le
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th
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re
sp
on
si
bl
e
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r
th
e
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er
al
li
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er
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on
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ra
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it
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at
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-e
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e
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te
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al
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ro
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te
m
w
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rs
an
d
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e
ra
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at
e
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e
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k
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e
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d
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n
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e
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d
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e
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e
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at
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e
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d
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s
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ab
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d
a
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c
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d
R
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k
C
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k
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d
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d
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l
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d
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d
m
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d
by

th
e
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,a

nd
th
e
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r
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ito
rin
g
an
d
re
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s
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e
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an
d
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au
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t
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lit
y
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e
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k
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C
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es
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Ex
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at
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ar
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se
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e
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m
pa
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an
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s

re
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ed
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su
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e

fro
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)

th
e
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an
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th
e
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th
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th
e

fin
an
ci
al
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rd
s
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ve

be
en
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op
er
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m
ai
nt
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d
an
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e

fin
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at
em
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a
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e
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d
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vi
ew
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e
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m
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er
at
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an
d

fin
an
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s;
an
d

(b
)

th
e

C
EO

an
d

ot
he
r
ke
y

m
an
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em
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er
so
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el
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ar
e

re
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si
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rd
in
g

th
e
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eq
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an
d

ef
fe
ct
iv
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s
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th
e
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m
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k

m
an
ag
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t
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d

in
te
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al
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ro
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ys
te
m
s.

Th
e
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ar
d
w
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e
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e
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e
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C
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e
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th
e
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pa
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te
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ud
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g

fin
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ci
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ra
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m
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e
an
d
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rm

at
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n
te
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no
lo
gy
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nt
ro
ls
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nd
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k
m
an
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ys
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m
s
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e
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ua
te
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d
ef
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e
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e
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s
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s
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
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su
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e
ha
s
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en

re
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iv
ed
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m
th
e
C
EO

,F
C
an
d
in
te
rn
al
au
di
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rs
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
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y
m
an
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nn
el
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gu
la
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al
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d
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th
e
AR

C
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m
at
er
ia
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an
d


D
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w
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e
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n
th
e
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C
an
d
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di
to
rs

in
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e
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e
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th
e
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y
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t

pe
rs
on
ne
lt
o
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d
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t
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e
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t
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to
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d
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s
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th
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C
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y
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an
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th
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an
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d
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e
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at
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at
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k
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m
s
ar
e
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d
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e
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s
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e
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th
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an
ci
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at
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vi
ew

of
th
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at
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an
d
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al
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’
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e
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ro
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k
m
an
ag
em

en
ta
nd

in
te
rn
al
co
nt
ro
ls
ys
te
m
s
a r
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
an
d
ad
eq
ua
te
.



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED

39

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Pr
ov
is
io
n

C
od

e
D
es
cr
ip
tio

n
C
om

pa
ny
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e
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d
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s
an
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di
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m
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w
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ch

di
sc
ha
rg
es

its
du
tie
s
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je
ct
iv
el
y.
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.1

Th
e
du
tie
s
of
th
e
AC

in
cl
ud
e:

(a
)

re
vi
ew

in
g

th
e

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

fin
an
ci
al

re
po
rti
ng

is
su
es

an
d
ju
dg
em

en
ts

so
as

to
en
su
re

th
e
in
te
gr
ity

of
th
e

fin
an
ci
al

st
at
em

en
ts

of
th
e

co
m
pa
ny

an
d

an
y

an
no
un
ce
m
en
ts

re
la
tin
g
to

th
e

co
m
pa
ny
's

fin
an
ci
al

pe
rfo
rm

an
ce
;

(b
)

re
vi
ew

in
g
at

le
as
t
an
nu
al
ly

th
e

ad
eq
ua
cy

an
d

ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s

of
th
e

co
m
pa
ny
's
in
te
rn
al
co
nt
ro
ls

an
d

ris
k

m
an
ag
em

en
t

sy
st
em

s;

(c
)

re
vi
ew

in
g

th
e

as
su
ra
nc
e

fro
m

th
e
C
EO

an
d
th
e
FC

on
th
e

fin
an
ci
al

re
co
rd
s

an
d
fin
an
ci
al
st
at
em

en
ts
;

(d
)

m
ak
in
g

re
co
m
m
en
da
tio
ns

to
th
e

Bo
ar
d

on
:
(i)

th
e

pr
op
os
al
s

to
th
e

sh
ar
eh
ol
de
rs

on
th
e

ap
po
in
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en
t
an
d

re
m
ov
al

of
ex
te
rn
al
au
di
to
rs
;a
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(ii
)

th
e

re
m
un
er
at
io
n

an
d

te
rm
s
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en
ga
ge
m
en
t
of

th
e
ex
te
rn
al
au
di
to
rs
;

(e
)

re
vi
ew

in
g

th
e

ad
eq
ua
cy
,

ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s,

in
de
pe
nd
en
ce
,
sc
op
e

an
d

re
su
lts
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th
e
ex
te
rn
al
au
di
t

an
d
th
e
co
m
pa
ny
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te
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al
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di
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un
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n;
an
d

Th
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D
ire
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s
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co
gn
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e
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e
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e
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at
e
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ve
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an
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an
d
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g
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gh
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th
e
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he
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C
m
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ca
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to
pe
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rm

th
e
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w
in
g
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nc
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ns
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m
on
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t

ot
he
rs
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)
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st
th
e
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ar
d
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th
e
di
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at
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ew
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th
e
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te
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al
an
d
ex
te
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au
di
to
rs
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w
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at
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n
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of
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te
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g
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nt
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m
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ra
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th
e
m
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en
t’s
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se
,a
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re
su
lts
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th
e
au
di
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co
m
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le
d
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e
in
te
rn
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an
d
ex
te
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al

au
di
to
rs
;
re
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ew

th
e
in
te
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an
d
an
nu
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fin
an
ci
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st
at
em

en
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an
d
re
su
lts

an
no
un
ce
m
en
ts

be
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su
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is
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to
th
e

Bo
ar
d
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r
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al
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cu
si
ng
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la
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ch
an
ge
s
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un
tin
g
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an
d
pr
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,m
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ris
k
ar
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si
gn
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ad
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su
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m
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e
go
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g
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n
st
at
em

en
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w
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fin
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rti
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at
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re
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d
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g
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at
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m
pl
ia
nc
e

an
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at
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l
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an
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k
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an
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be
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te
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an
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an
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m
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at
te
rs

w
hi
ch

th
e
au
di
to
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lts

of
th
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le
va
nt
la
w
s,
ru
le
s
or

re
gu
la
tio
ns
,w

hi
ch

ha
s
or

is
lik
el
y
to
ha
ve

a
m
at
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m
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(f)
m
ak
e
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m
m
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th
e
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d
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e
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de
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an
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g
th
e
re
m
un
er
at
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n
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d
te
rm
s
of

en
ga
ge
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au
di
to
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;
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)

re
vi
ew

si
gn
ifi
ca
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fin
an
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ng

is
su
es

an
d
ju
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w
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e
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an
d
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e
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te
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to
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so
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fin
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at
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re
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’s
fin
an
ci
al
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re
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d
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e
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d
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at
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at
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re
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e
sc
op
e
of
C
ha
pt
er

9
an
d
C
ha
pt
er

10
of
th
e
C
at
al
is
t

R
ul
es

(if
an
y)
;

(k
)

re
vi
ew

an
y
po
te
nt
ia
lc
on
fli
ct
s
of
in
te
re
st
s;



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

40

(f)
re
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ew
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION

Mr Lim Siang Kai, Mr Ong Yoke En and Ms Lim Lay Yong are the Directors seeking re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company to be convened on 28 July 2023 (“AGM”) (collectively,
the “Retiring Directors” and each a “Retiring Director”).

Pursuant to rule 720(5) of the SGX-ST Catalist Rules, the information as set out in Appendix 7F relating to the
above Retiring Directors to put forward for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting is disclosed
below.

MR LIM SIANG KAI MR ONG YOKE EN MS LIM LAY YONG
Date of Appointment 3October 2016 9 March 2016 3 October 2016
Date of last re-
appointment

23 September 2020 23 September 2020 23 September 2020

Age 67 54 53
Country of principal
residence

Singapore Malaysia Malaysia

The Board’s comments
on this appointment
(including rationale,
selection criteria, board
diversity consideration
and the search and
nomination process)

The Board of Directors of
the Company has
considered, among
others, the
recommendation of
Nominating Committee
(“NC”) and has reviewed
and considered the
contribution and
performance,
attendance,
preparedness,
participation, candour
and suitability of Mr Lim
Siang Kai for re-
appointment as
Independent Director of
the Company. The Board
has reviewed and
concluded Mr Lim Siang
Kai possess the
experience, expertise,
knowledge, and skills to
contribute towards the
core competencies of the
Board.

The Board of Directors of
the Company has
considered, among
others, the
recommendation of NC
and has reviewed and
considered the
contribution and
performance, attendance,
preparedness,
participation, candour and
suitability of Mr Ong Yoke
En for re-appointment as
Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. The Board
has reviewed and
concluded that Mr Ong
Yoke En possess the
experience, expertise,
knowledge and skills to
contribute towards the
core competencies of the
Board.

The Board of Directors of
the Company has
considered, among others,
the recommendation of NC
and has reviewed and
considered the contribution
and performance,
attendance, preparedness,
participation, candour and
suitability of Ms Lim Lay
Yong for re-appointment
as Executive Director and
Chief Operating Officer of
the Company. The Board
has reviewed and
concluded that Ms Lim Lay
Yong possess the
experience, expertise,
knowledge and skills to
contribute towards the
core competencies of the
Board

Whether appointment is
executive, and if so, the
area of responsibility

Non-Executive Executive. He builds and
leads the senior
executive team and sets
the strategic direction of
the Group and also
involved in the research
of development of new
innovations and
technology

Executive. She oversees
daily operations, designing
and implementing
business strategies of the
Group.

Job Title (e.g.) Lead ID,
AC Chairman, AC
Member etc.)

Non-executive Chairman
and Lead Independent
Director

Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer

Executive Director and
Chief Operating Officer

Professional
qualifications

-Bachelor of Art degree
and Bachelor of Social
Science (Hons) degree
from National University
of Singapore.

Bachelor of Arts from
University Kebangsaan
Malaysia

-Bachelor of Science
(Biochemistry) from Simon
Fraser University
(Canada),
-Diploma in Health
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-Master of Arts in
Economics from
University of Canterbury,
New Zealand

Science (Herbal Medicine)
from University of New
England (Australia)

Working experience
and occupation(s)
during the past 10
years

-5/2006-2/2017 Natural
Cool Holdings Limited
(Independent Director) -
5/2007-12/2021- Beijing
Gas Blue Sky Power
Holdings Limited
(Independent Director)
-12/2007- 3/2021 - Joyas
International Holdings
Limited (Independent
Director)
- 6/2019- 12/2021
D’nonce Technologies
Bhd (Non-Executive
Non-Independent
Director)
- 11/2005-Present - ISDN
Holdings Limited
(Independent Director)

2/2017-present Samurai
2k Aerosol Sdn Bnd
(Executive Director)

6/2014-present Samurai
2K Aerosol Sdn Bhd
(Executive Director)

Shareholding interest in
the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries

No 139,152,000 ordinary
shares

45,000,000 ordinary
shares

Any relationship
(including immediate
family relationships) with
any existing director,
existing executive officer,
the issuer and/or
substantial shareholder
of the listed issuer or of
any of its principal
subsidiaries

Yes. Mr Lim Siang Kai
has been the director of
the Company since
2016. Other than the
disclosed directorship
with the Company, there
are no other
relationships.

Yes, Mr Ong Yoke En
has been the director of
the Company since 2016.
Mr Ong Yoke En is also
the spouse of Ms Lim Lay
Yong.

Yes, Ms Lim Lay Yong has
been the director of the
Company since 2016. Ms
Lim Lay Yong is also the
spouse of Mr Ong Yoke
En.

Conflict of Interest
(including any competing
business)

No No No

Undertaking (in the
format set out in
Appendix 7H) under Rule
720(1) has been
submitted to the listed
issuer

Yes Yes Yes

Other Principal
Commitments Including
Directorships
Past (for the last 5 years) - Beijing Gas Blue Sky

Power Holdings
Limited
- Joyas International
Holdings Limited

- D’nonce Technologies
Bhd

Nil Nil

Present - ISDN Holdings Limited Nil Nil
Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.
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a) Whether at any time
during the last 10 years,
an application or a
petition under any
bankruptcy law of any
jurisdiction was filed
against him or against a
partnership of which he
was a partner at the time
when he was a partner or
any time within 2 years
from the date he ceased
to be a partner?

No No No

b) Whether at any time
during the last 10 years,
an application or a
petition under any law of
any jurisdiction was filed
against an entity (not
being a partnership) of
which he was a director
or an equivalent person
or a key executive, at the
time when he was a
director or an equivalent
person or a key executive
of that entity or at any
time within 2 years from
the date he ceased to be
a director or an
equivalent person or a
key executive of that
entity, for the winding up
or dissolution of that
entity or where that entity
is the trustee of a
business trust, that
business trust, on the
ground of insolvency?

No No No

c) Whether there is any
unsatisfied judgement
against him?

No No No

d) Whether he has ever
been convicted of any
offence, in Singapore or
elsewhere, involving
fraud of dishonesty which
is punishable with
imprisonment, or has
been the subject of any
criminal proceedings
(including any pending
criminal proceedings of
which he is aware) for
such purpose?

No No No

e) Whether he has ever
been convicted of any
offence, in Singapore or

No No No
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elsewhere, involving a
breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
that relates to the
securities or futures
industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or has been
the subject of any
criminal proceedings
(including any pending
criminal proceedings of
which he is aware) for
such breach?
f) Whether at any time
during the last 10 years,
judgement has been
entered against him in
any civil proceedings in
Singapore or elsewhere
involving a breach of any
law of regulatory
requirement that relates
to the securities or
futures industry in
Singapore or elsewhere,
or a finding of fraud,
misrepresentation or
dishonesty on his part, or
he has been the subject
of any civil proceedings
(including any pending
civil proceedings of which
he is aware) involving an
allegation of fraud,
misrepresentation of
dishonesty on his part?

No No No

g) Whether he has ever
been convicted in
Singapore or elsewhere
of any offence in
connection with the
formation or
management of any
entity or business trust?

No No No

h) Whether he has ever
been disqualified from
acting as a director or an
equivalent person of any
entity (including the
trustee of a business
trust), or from taking part
directly or indirectly in the
management of any
entity or business trust?

No No No

i) Whether he has ever
been the subject of any
order, judgment or ruling
of any court, tribunal or
governmental body,

No No No
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permanently or
temporarily enjoining him
from engaging in any
type of
business practice or
activity?

j) Whether he has ever,
to his knowledge, been
concerned with the
management or conduct,
in Singapore or
elsewhere, of the affairs
of:–
i. any corporation

which has been
investigated for a
breach of any law
or regulatory
requirement
governing
corporations in
Singapore or
elsewhere; or

ii. any entity (not
being a
corporation)
which has been
investigated for a
breach of any
law or regulatory
requirement
governing such
entities in
Singapore or
elsewhere; or

iii. any business trust
which has been
investigated for a
breach of any law
or regulatory
requirement
governing
business trusts in
Singapore or
elsewhere; or

iv. any entity or
business trust
which has been
investigated for a
breach of any
law or regulatory
requirement that
relates to the
securities or
futures industry in
Singapore or
elsewhere

No No No
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in connection with any
matter occurring or
arising during that period
when he was so
concerned with the entity
or business trust?
k) Whether he has
been the subject of
any current or past
investigation or
disciplinary
proceedings, or has
been reprimanded or
issued any warning, by
the Monetary Authority
of Singapore or any
other regulatory
authority, exchange,
professional body or
government agency,
whether in Singapore or
elsewhere?

No No No

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.
Any prior experience as a
director of an issuer listed
on the Exchange?

If Yes, Please provide
details of prior
experience

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Please provide details of
relevant experience and
the nominating
committee's reasons for
not requiring the director
to undergo training as
prescribed by the
Exchange (if applicable)

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
 
The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. 
 
In the opinion of the directors: 
 
(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company as set out on pages 62 to 112 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and of the financial performance, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the finan9cial year then ended in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International); 
and 

 
(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due. 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 
Ong Yoke En 
Lim Lay Yong 
Lim Siang Kai 
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong 
Hau Hock Khun  
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong  
Lim Chong Huat 

 
Arrangement to enable directors to acquire benefits 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate other than as disclosed under “Share options and 
awards” in this statement. 
 
Directors’ interest in shares or debentures 
 
The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the shares or debentures of 
the Company and related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under 
Section 164 of the Act except as follows: 
 Number of ordinary shares 
  Shareholdings registered in 
  the name of directors 
   At At 
   1.4.2022 31.3.2023 
 
The Company   
Ong Yoke En 139,152,000 139,152,000 
Lim Lay Yong 45,000,000 45,000,000 
Dato’ Chang Chor Choong 12,750,000 12,750,000 
Dato’ Loh Shin Siong 12,750,000 12,750,000 
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Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
 
Directors’ interest in shares or debentures (cont’d) 
 
The director, Ong Yoke En, by virtue of Section 7 of the Act is deemed to have an interest in the shares held by the Company 
in its wholly-owned subsidiary corporations and in the shares held by the Company in the following subsidiary not wholly 
owned by the Group: 
 
 Number of ordinary shares 
   At At 
   1.4.2022 31.3.2023 
 
PT Samurai Paint 2,010 2,010 
 
The directors’ interest in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 April 2023 were the same as those as at 31 March 
2023. 
 
 
Share options and awards 
 
The Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited’s Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) and Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) 
were approved and adopted by the members at the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 December 2016 and will continue to 
remain in force until 15 December 2026, unless terminated in accordance with the rules of the Plan and Scheme. The Plan 
and Scheme provide for the grant of shares and share options to employees and directors of the Group. 
 
The Plan and Scheme are administered by the Remuneration Committee of the Company, comprising of Mr Hau Hock Khun 
(Chairman), Mr Lim Siang Kai, and Mr Lim Chong Huat. A member of the Remuneration Committee who is also a participant 
of the Plan and Scheme must not be involved in its deliberation in respect of awards and options granted or to be granted to 
him. 
 
The aggregate number of shares and share options which may be issued or transferred pursuant to awards granted under 
the Plan and Scheme on any date, when aggregated with the aggregate number of shares over which awards or options are 
granted under any other share option schemes or share schemes of the Company, shall not exceed 15% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding shares held by the Company as treasury shares) on the day preceding that date. 
 
On 31 May 2021, 1,618,929 share awards were granted to employees of the Group pursuant to the Plan. All the share 
awards granted under the Plan have vested on the date of grant.  
 
On 31 May 2021, 1,190,000 share options were granted to employees of the Group pursuant to the Scheme.  
 
Movement in the number of options granted by the Company under the Scheme for the Group’s employees are as follows: 
 
  No. of options under the Scheme 
 

 
Beginning of 
financial year 

Granted 
during 

financial year 
Forfeited during  

financial year 

Vested 
during 

financial year 
End of  

financial year 
       
2023       
3 June 2019  345,000 – (36,000) – 309,000 
31 May 2021  2,505,000 – (660,000) – 1,845,000 
 
There were no options exercised during the financial year. 
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Share options and awards (cont’d) 
 
The details of the outstanding number of options at the end of the financial year was: 
 

Exercise price Grant date Exercise period 
2023 

Number of options 
    
SGD0.305 3 June 2019 3 June 2022 to 2 June 2029 309,000 
SGD0.347 31 May 2021 31 May 2024 to 30 May 2031 1,845,000 
 
No participant has received 5% or more of the total number of shares under option available under the Scheme. 
 
There were no options granted to directors, controlling shareholders and their associates except as disclosed below: 
 

 No. of unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option 
     

 

Granted 
during 

financial year 
ended  

31.3.2023 

Aggregate 
granted since 

commencement 
of Scheme to 

31.3.2023 

Aggregate 
exercised since 

commencement of 
Scheme to 
31.3.2023 

Aggregate 
outstanding 

as at 31.3.2023 
     
Ong How En(1) – 60,000 – 60,000 
 
(1) Brother of Mr Ong Yoke En, director and controlling shareholder, and the brother-in-law of  

Ms Lim Lay Yong, director. He is employed as the technical manager of Samurai 2K Aerosol Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known 
as Orientus Industry Sdn. Bhd.). 

 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 
 
The members of the Audit and Risk Committee during the financial year and at the date of this statement are: 
 
Lim Siang Kai (Chairman) 
Hau Hock Khun 
Lim Chong Huat  
 
The Audit and Risk Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Act. Their functions are 
detailed in the Corporate Governance Report. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee also: 
 
(a) reviewed the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor; 
 
(b) reviewed the audit plan and scope of work carried out by the independent auditor and also met with the independent 

auditor to discuss the results of their audit and their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls; 
 
(c) reviewed the overall scope and timing of the work to be carried out by the internal auditor and also met with internal 

auditor to discuss the results of their internal audit procedures; 
 
(d) reviewed the financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended  

31 March 2023 and the independent auditor’s report thereon; and 
 
(e) reviewed interested person transactions. 
 
The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor and has 
recommended to the Board that Baker Tilly TFW LLP be nominated for re-appointment as independent auditor of the 
Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
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Independent auditor 
 
The independent auditor, Baker Tilly TFW LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ong Yoke En Lim Lay Yong 
Director Director 
 
13 July 2023 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), as set out on pages 62 to 112, which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 1967 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) [“SFRS(I)”] so as to give a true and fair 
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2023 and 
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of 
the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of 
Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matter 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (cont’d) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
Key Audit Matter (cont’d) 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables 
 
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s trade receivables of RM15,261,000 (2022: RM18,448,000) represents approximately 12% 
(2022: 13%) of the Group’s total assets. 
 
The Group determines the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables by applying the simplified approach to 
recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of the reporting period. The Group determined the lifetime ECL 
of trade receivables by performing an ECL assessment for each debtor by considering the effects of the macroeconomic 
uncertainties, historical loss rate, recent payments, ongoing business relationship, creditworthiness of each debtor and their 
ability to repay. 
 
As the ECL assessment of trade receivables involves significant estimates and assumptions by the Group, we have identified 
the allowance for ECL of trade receivables as a key audit matter. 
 
The significant estimates and assumptions applied in the ECL assessment and details of ECL measurement are disclosed 
in Note 3 and Note 26(b) to the financial statements. 
 
Procedures performed by component auditor and us to address the key audit matter 
 
We obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policy and credit assessment procedures, including client’s control to 
follow up on payments from customers and to monitor the credit limits, and evaluated the Group’s ECL assessment for trade 
receivables. In testing the significant assumptions and reasonableness of the Group’s ECL assessment, we tested the aging 
of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period on a sample basis, verified historical loss rates of major trade debtors 
to historical payment trends, recent payments, information relating to the Group’s ongoing business relationships and 
performed subsequent receipt test for major trade debtors up to audit report date. 
 
We have also assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in the financial statements. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual 
Report 2023, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (cont’d) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to 
provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d) 
 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiary 
corporation incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Chee Sum Gilbert. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Baker Tilly TFW LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
13 July 2023 
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  2023 2022 
 Note RM’000 RM’000 
 
Revenue 4 70,268 113,038  
Cost of sales  (49,299) (64,802)  
     
Gross profit  20,969 48,236  
     
Other income 5 1,133 1,170  
Administrative expenses  (17,542) (20,307)  
Marketing and distribution expenses  (13,607) (8,538)  
Finance costs 6 (1,232) (926)  
     
(Loss)/profit before tax 7 (10,279) 19,635  
     
Tax expense 9 (1,166) (6,512)  
     
(Loss)/profit for the financial year  (11,445) 13,123  
     
Other comprehensive loss for the financial year, 
  net of tax:      
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to 
  profit or loss:     
Currency translation differences arising from 
  consolidation  (195) (50)  
     
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the 
  financial year   (11,640) 13,073  
     
     
(Loss)/profit attributable to:      
Equity holders of the Company  (11,445)  13,124  
Non-controlling interest  – (1)  
     
  (11,445) 13,123  
     
     
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:     
Equity holders of the Company  (11,639) 13,079  
Non-controlling interest  (1) (6)  
     
  (11,640) 13,073  
     
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable 
  to equity holders of the Company (RM sen per 
  share)     
Basic and diluted 10  (3.42) 3.93  
     
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Group Company 
  2023 2022 2023 2022 
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment 11 47,820 27,821 – –  
Intangible assets 12 2,364 816 – –  
Investment in subsidiaries 13 – – 18,363 15,658  
Deferred tax assets 14 78 688 – –  
Trade and other receivables 16 4,764 3,637 – –  
       
Total non-current assets  55,026 32,962 18,363 15,658  
       
       
Current assets       
Inventories 15 16,831 17,646 – –  
Trade and other receivables 16 17,960 22,654 33,785 47,190  
Tax receivable  4,035 302 – –  
Cash and bank balances 17 34,488 73,111 1,703 4,704  
       
Total current assets  73,314 113,713 35,488 51,894  
       
Total assets  128,340 146,675 53,851 67,552  
       
       
Non-current liabilities       
Borrowings 18 20,175 3,949 – –  
Deferred tax liabilities 14 1,786 1,953 – –  
Other payables 19 94 94 – –  
       
Total non-current liabilities  22,055 5,996 – –  
       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 19 17,648 28,208 4,518 533  
Borrowings  18 12,754 17,786 – –  
Tax payable  737 1,623 182 182  
       
Total current liabilities  31,139 47,617 4,700 715  
       
Total liabilities  53,194 53,613 4,700 715  
       
Net assets  75,146 93,062 49,151 66,837  
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Equity       
Share capital 20 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165  
Treasury shares 20 (64) (64) (64) (64)  
Share option reserve 22 651 448 651 448  
Retained earnings/(accumulated 

losses)  27,461 45,385 (8,601) 9,288  
Currency translation reserve  (489) (295) – –  
Merger reserve 23 (9,368) (9,368) – –  
       
Equity attributable to equity  
  holders of the Company 

  
75,356 

 
93,271 

 
49,151 

 
66,837 

 

Non-controlling interest  (210) (209) – –  
       
Total equity  75,146 93,062 49,151 66,837  
       
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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   Share  Currency  
 Share Treasury option Retained translation Merger  Non-controlling Total 
 capital shares reserve earnings reserve reserve Total interest equity 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Group           
           
Balance at 1 April 2022 57,165 (64) 448 45,385 (295) (9,368) 93,271 (209) 93,062  
           
Dividend paid (Note 21) – – – (6,479) – – (6,479) – (6,479)  
           
Loss for the financial year – – – (11,445) – – (11,445) – (11,445)  
Other comprehensive loss for the 
  financial year  

 
   

 
   

 

Currency translation differences arising  
  from consolidation – 

 
– – – (194) 

 
– (194) (1) (195)  

           
Total comprehensive loss for the financial year – – – (11,445) (194) – (11,639) (1) (11,640)  
           
Employee share option scheme (Note 22) – – 203 – – – 203 – 203  
           
Balance at 31 March 2023 57,165 (64) 651 27,461 (489) (9,368) 75,356 (210) 75,146  
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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   Share  Currency  
 Share Treasury option Retained translation Merger  Non-controlling Total 
 capital shares reserve earnings reserve reserve Total  interest  equity 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 
 
Group           
           
Balance at 1 April 2021 52,653 – 119 45,436 (250) (9,368) 88,590 (203) 88,387  
           
Profit/(loss) for the financial year – – – 13,124 – – 13,124 (1) 13,123  
Other comprehensive loss for the 
  financial year  

  
       

 

Currency translation differences arising  
  from consolidation – 

 
– 

 
– – (45) – (45) (5) (50) 

 

           
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
  for the financial year – 

 
– 

 
– 13,124 (45) – 13,079 (6) 13,073 

 

           

Issue of shares (Note 20) 4,512 – – – – – 4,512 – 4,512  

           
Employee share option scheme (Note 22) – – 329 – – – 329 – 329  
           
Dividend paid (Note 21) – – – (13,175) – – (13,175) – (13,175)  
           
Share buy-back – (64) – – – – (64) – (64)  
           
Balance at 31 March 2022 57,165 (64) 448 45,385 (295) (9,368) 93,271 (209) 93,062  
           
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
    Retained 
   Share earnings/ 
 Share Treasury option (accumulated Total  
 capital shares reserve losses) equity  
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Company       
       
Balance at 1 April 2022 57,165 (64) 448 9,288 66,837  
Dividend paid (Note 21) – – – (6,479) (6,479)  
Loss for the financial year – – – (11,410) (11,410)  
Employee share option scheme 
  (Note 22) – – 203 – 203  
       
Balance at 31 March 2023 57,165 (64) 651 (8,601) 49,151  
       
       
Balance at 1 April 2021 52,653 – 119 10,883 63,655  
Profit for the financial year – – – 11,580 11,580  
Issue of shares (Note 20) 4,512 – – – 4,512  
Employee share option scheme 
  (Note 22) – 

 
– 

 
329 – 329  

Dividend paid (Note 21) – – – (13,175) (13,175)  
Share buy-back – (64) – – (64)  
       
Balance at 31 March 2022 57,165 (64) 448 9,288 66,837  
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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                2023           2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
(Loss)/profit before tax  (10,279) 19,635  
    
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,241 3,154  
Amortisation of intangible assets 301 80  
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 3  
Performance share plan expense – 4,512  
Employee share option expense 203 329  
Interest expenses 1,232 926  
Interest income (683) (747)  
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (287) (285)  
    
Operating cash flows before working capital changes (4,272) 27,607  
    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Inventories 815 (3,729)  
Receivables 4,612 (5,972)  
Payables (10,560) 4,395  
Currency translation adjustments (229) (63)  
    
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (9,634) 22,238  
    
Income tax paid  (5,311) (6,133)  
Interest received 63 80  
    
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (14,882) 16,185  
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of intangible assets (1,849) (125)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 34  
Purchase of property, plant and equipment [Note 11(ii)] (23,131) (3,992)  
Interest received 620 667  
Deposits paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment – (180)  
Prepayment of property, plant and equipment – (3,027)  
Prepayment of intangible assets (758) –  
    
Net cash used in investing activities (25,118)  (6,623)  
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Dividend paid (6,479) (13,175)  
Deposits pledged (55) (45)  
Drawdown of banker’s acceptance – 1,822  
Repayment of banker’s acceptance (359) –  
Drawdown of bank borrowings 16,400 –  
Repayment of bank borrowings (6,002) (16)  
Repayment of lease liabilities  (878) (611)  
Interest paid (1,232) (856)  
Share buy-back – (64)  
Prepayment of hire purchase agreement (67) –  
    
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,328 (12,945)  
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (38,672) (3,383)  
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 71,942 75,306  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (6) 19  
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 
(Note 17) 

 
33,264 

 
71,942  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 
 
 
1 Corporate information 
 
 Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) (Co. Reg. No. 201606168C) is incorporated as a private limited company 

and domiciled in Singapore on 9 March 2016. It was converted into a public company limited by shares on 16 December 
2016 and is listed on the Catalist board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).  

 
 The registered office of the Company is at 133 North Bridge Road, #08-03 Chinatown Point,  

Singapore 059413. The principal place of business of the Company is located at No. 6, Jalan Dato Yunus 1, Kawasan 
Perindustrian Dato Yunus Sulaiman, Lima Kedai, 81120 Skudai, Johor, Malaysia. 

 
 The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are 

disclosed in Note 13. 
 
 
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
 a) Basis of preparation 
 

The financial statements are presented in Malaysia Ringgit and are rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000) 
except when otherwise indicated. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) [“SFRS(I)”]. The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial year. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions and historical 
experiences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results 
may ultimately differ from those estimates. 

 
Use of estimates and judgements 

 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement in applying accounting policies, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates have a significant risk of resulting in material adjustment within the next financial year are disclosed in 
Note 3. 

 
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other current receivables and payables approximate 
their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 
 New and revised standards that are adopted 
 
 In the current financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted all new and revised SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) 

Interpretations [“SFRS(I) INT”] that are effective for the current financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting 
policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective SFRS(I) and 
SFRS(I) INT. The application of these new and revised SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) INT do not have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

 
New and revised standards not yet effective 

 
New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been issued at the reporting date but are 
not yet effective for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 have not been applied in preparing these financial 
statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and 
the Company. 

 
 b) Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at the 
end of the reporting period. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 
Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full. Profits and 
losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and property, plant 
and equipment, are eliminated in full. 

 
 Business combinations involving entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling of interest 

method. Under this method, the Company has been treated as the holding company of the subsidiaries as if the 
combination had occurred from the date the subsidiaries first came under the control of the same shareholders. 
Accordingly, the results of the Group include the results of the subsidiaries for the entire periods under review. Such 
manner of presentation reflects the economic substance of the companies, which were under common control 
throughout the relevant period, as a single economic enterprise, although the legal parent-subsidiary relationships 
were not established. 

 
 Pursuant to this: 
 

- Assets and liabilities are reflected at their existing carrying amounts; 
- No adjustments are made to reflect the fair values on the date of combination or recognise any new assets or 

liabilities; 
- No additional goodwill is recognised as a result of the combination; 
- Upon the completion of the group restructuring exercise, any difference between the consideration paid by the 

Company and the equity “acquired” is reflected within the equity of the Group as merger reserve. 
 

All other business combinations are accounted for using acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related 
costs are recognised as expenses as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 b) Basis of consolidation (cont’d) 
 

Any excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any), over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. In instances 
where the latter amount exceeds the former and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the excess 
is recognised as gain from bargain purchase in profit or loss on the date of acquisition. 

 
Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable 
to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. They are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial position. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 
the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
For non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, the Group elects on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis 
whether to measure them at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
identifiable assets, at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition date fair 
value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard. 

 
 c) Subsidiaries 
 
 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. 

 
In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. On disposal of the investments, the difference between disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the investments are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
 d) Property, plant and equipment 
 
 Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
 
 The cost of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly 

attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. 

 
 The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 

of the item if it is probable that future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group and 
its cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. 

 
 On disposal of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying 

amount is taken to profit or loss. 
 
 No depreciation is provided on freehold land. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 d) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 

estimated useful lives of the asset. If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease 
term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life 
of the asset.  

 
 Depreciation for other items of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis to allocate the 

depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of the asset. The useful lives for property, plant and equipment 
are as follows: 

 
 Years 
  Freehold properties 50 
  Leasehold properties 1 - 6 
  Furniture, fittings and equipment 4 - 12 
  Motor vehicles 8 - 10 
  Plant and machinery 8 
  Renovation 10 
 
 The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, 

and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit 
or loss when the changes arise. 

 
 Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use. 
 
 Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production are carried at cost, less any recognised 

impairment loss until construction is completed. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Depreciation of these assets, on the same 
basis as other property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

 
 e) Intangible assets 
 
  Acquired computer software licenses 
 

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond 
its original specifications and which can be reliably measured, is recognised as a capital improvement and added 
to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. 

 
 Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life of 5 years. 
 
 Patents and trademarks 
 
 Patents and trademarks are capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to successfully register patents and 

trademarks in various countries. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of 
patents and trademarks over 10 to 20 years, based on the shorter of their estimated useful lives and periods of 
contractual rights. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 f) Impairment of non-financial assets  
 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 
 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 
 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A previously recognised impairment loss for an asset is only reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
 g) Financial assets 
 
 Recognition and derecognition 
 
 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. 

 
 Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 

of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the fair value of the 
financial assets on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to acquisition of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Trade receivables without a significant 
financing component is initially measured at transaction prices. 

 
 Classification and measurement 
 
 All financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on 

the classification of the financial assets. 
 
 The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost. 
 

The classification is based on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 

 
The Group reclassifies financial assets when, and only when, its business model for managing those assets 
changes. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 g) Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
 Subsequent measurement 
 
 Debt instruments 
 
 Debt instruments include cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables (excluding advance payment to 

suppliers, prepayments, goods and services tax receivables and tax recoverable). The Group’s debt instruments 
are measured at amortised cost. 

 
 The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method and 
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 
modified or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the EIR 
method. 

 
 Impairment 
 
 The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for financial assets carried at amortised 

cost. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest 
rate. 

 
 The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For 

credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are 
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a “12-month 
ECL”). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a “lifetime ECL”). 

 
 For trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component, the Group applies a simplified approach 

to recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group determined the lifetime 
ECL of trade receivables by performing an ECL assessment for each debtor by considering the historical loss rate, 
recent payments, ongoing business relationship, creditworthiness of each debtor and their ability to repay. 

 
 If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous 

reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, 
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date. 

 
 The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial assets with a corresponding 

adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.  
 

Offset 
 
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the statements of financial position when, 

and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 h) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 
 
  For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value and 
excludes pledged deposits. 

 
 i) Inventories 
 
  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis. 

The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production 
overheads based on normal operating capacity but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses. 

 
 j) Financial liabilities 
 
  Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group becomes 

a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
  Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities other than derivatives, 

directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
  Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value. Other financial liabilities (except for the 

financial guarantees) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
  For financial liabilities other than derivatives, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 

are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of 
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences. A 
financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. 

 
 k) Financial guarantees 
 
  A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 

holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original 
or modified terms of a debt instrument. 

 
  Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs. 
 
  Subsequent to initial measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the amount initially 

recognised less cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of SFRS(I) 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers and the amount of expected loss computed using the impairment methodology 
under SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments. 

 
 l) Provisions for other liabilities 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past event, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle that obligation and that the amount 
can be estimated reliably. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 
amount of the provision shall be discounted to present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessment of the time value of money and risks specific to the obligation. 

 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost in 
profit or loss. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 m) Share capital 
 
 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 

attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 
 
 n) Revenue recognition 
 
  Sale of aerosol spray paint 
 

The Group manufactures and sell aerosol spray paints. Sales is recognised when the goods have been delivered 
and control of the goods has been transferred to its customer. Revenue from these sales is recognised based on 
the price specified in the contract. Revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that there will 
be no significant reversal when the uncertainty is resolved. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales 
are made with a credit term of 30 to 120 days, which is consistent with market practice. A receivable is recognised 
when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the 
passage of time is required before the payment is due. 

 
Interest income 

 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. 

 
 Rental income 
 
 Rental income from operating lease (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 
 
 o) Leases 
 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 
  When a Group entity is the lessee 
 

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases (i.e. 
for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option) and leases of low-value assets (e.g. leases of tablet and personal computers, small items of office equipment 
and telephones). For these exempted leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

 
 Lease liabilities 
 

The lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liabilities comprise fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the 
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 o) Leases (cont’d) 
 
  When a Group entity is the lessee (cont’d) 
 
 Lease liabilities (cont’d) 
 
 The lease liabilities are presented within “borrowings” in the statements of financial position. 
 

The lease liabilities are subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liabilities using the effective interest method, and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.  

 
The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to 
future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

 
Right-of-use assets 

 
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, initial direct cost, less any lease incentive received.  

 
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, 
a provision is recognised and measured under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets. To the extent that the cost relates to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use 
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 

 
Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If ownership of the leased asset 
transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation 
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the 
lease. 

 
The right-of-use assets are presented within “property, plant and equipment” in the statements of financial position.  

 
The Group applies SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and 
accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in Note 2(f). 

 
As a practical expedient, SFRS(I) 16 Leases permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease component as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this 
practical expedient. 

 
  When a Group entity is the lessor 
 

Where the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or operating 
lease. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
  The Group has no finance lease when it acts as a lessor. 
 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased assets and recognised as an expense in profit or loss on the same basis as the lease income. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 p) Employee benefits 
 
 Defined contribution plans 
 
 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 

separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and the Employees’ Provident Fund in Malaysia, 
and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions once the contributions have been paid. 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service 
is performed. 

 
 Employee leave entitlements 
 
 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the 

estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period. 

 
  Share-based compensation 
 
 Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration for services rendered. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the share 
options on the date of the grant.  This cost is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the share 
option reserve, over the vesting period. Non-market vesting conditions are included in the estimation of the number 
of shares that are expected to vest on the vesting date. At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of 
the number of shares that are expected to vest on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the 
estimates in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting 
period. 

 
 When the share options are exercised, the related balance previously recognised in the share option reserve and 

the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) are credited to the share capital account when new ordinary shares 
are issued. If the share options are not exercised by the expiry date, the balance in the share option reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings. 

 
 q) Borrowing costs 
 
 Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
 
 r) Income taxes 
 
 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised 

in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity in which the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively). 

 
  Current tax is the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable income for the current year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable or 
recoverable in respect of previous years. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where 
appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

 
 Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements 
except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 r) Income taxes (cont’d) 
 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on currently enacted or substantively enacted tax rates at the end 
of the reporting period. 

 
 s) Functional and foreign currencies 
 
 Functional and presentation currency 
 
 Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which that entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements of the 
Group and the Company are presented in Malaysia Ringgit (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional currency. 

 
 Transactions and balances 
 
 Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional 

currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except for currency 
translation differences on net investment in foreign operations and borrowings and other currency instruments 
qualifying as net investment hedges for foreign operations, which are included in the currency translation reserve 
within equity in the consolidated financial statements. The currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation. 

 
 Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 

date when the fair values are determined. 
 
 Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 
 
 The financial performance and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the Group’s presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 
(i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the end of the reporting period; 
(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable 

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and 

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in currency translation reserve within equity. 
 
 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations 

(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings 
and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the currency translation 
reserve within the equity. 

 
 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
 
 On disposal of a foreign group entity, the cumulative amount of the currency translation reserve relating to that 

particular foreign entity is reclassified from equity and recognised in profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal 
is recognised. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 t) Dividend 
 

Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are 
recorded in the financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

 
 u) Segment reporting 
 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with other components 
of the Group. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker for making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments. 

 
 
3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management has made the 
following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

 
 Functional currency 
 

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, judgement is required by management 
to determine the primary economic environment in which the entities operate, the entities’ process of determining sales 
prices and the currency of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly influences the prices of its goods 
and services. Management has assessed that prices are mainly denominated and settled in the respective local currency 
of the entities of the Group. In addition, most of the entities’ cost base is mainly denominated in their respective local 
currency. Therefore, management concluded that the functional currency of the entities of the Group is their respective 
local currency. 

 
In view of the financial reliance of the Company on the operations of its major subsidiary in Malaysia, the management 
determined that RM is the functional currency of the Company. 

 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below. 

 
Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables 

 
Management determines the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables by applying the simplified approach to 
recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of the reporting period. The Group determined the lifetime 
ECL of trade receivables by performing an ECL assessment for each debtor by considering the effects of the 
macroeconomic uncertainties, the historical loss rate, recent payments, ongoing business relationship, creditworthiness 
of each debtor and their ability to repay. 

 
 As the ECL assessment of trade receivables is subject to assumptions and forecasts, any changes to these estimations 

will affect the amounts of loss allowance recognised and the carrying amounts of trade receivables. Details of ECL 
measurement and carrying amount of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 26(b) and Note 16 respectively. 
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3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d) 
 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)  
 

Impairment of non-financial assets  
 

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of that asset or the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash 
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value 
in use. 

 
The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the end of the reporting 
period are disclosed in Note 11 and 12 respectively. 

 
Write down of inventories 

 
Where necessary, inventories are written down to net realisable value for estimated losses where the cost of inventories 
may not be recoverable. The Group estimates the write down based upon an analysis of the physical conditions of the 
products, product demand, anticipated selling prices and usability of the raw materials and packaging materials. 
Adjustments to the carrying amount of inventories may be made in future periods in the event that their carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable resulting from future loss events. 

 
 The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in  

Note 15. 
 
 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 
 

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there are any indicators of impairment for 
investment in subsidiaries. Investment in subsidiaries are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying amount of the investment exceeds 
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, management carried out a review of the recoverable amount of one of 
the Company’s investment in Samurai 2K USA Inc due to indications of impairment loss where the subsidiary has been 
persistently making losses since incorporation. The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary was determined 
based on fair value less cost to sell method. The fair value was determined as the adjusted value of assets upon disposal 
and realisation of liabilities. This fair value measurement is categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. An 
impairment loss of RM648,000 was recognised to write down the carrying value of the investment to its recoverable 
amount of RMNil. Based on management’s assessment, no further impairment on the Company’s investments in the 
other subsidiaries are necessary at the end of the reporting period. 

 
The carrying amount of investment in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 13. 

 
 
4 Revenue 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Timing of revenue recognition    
Sale of goods - At a point in time 70,268 113,038  
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5 Other income 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Foreign exchange gain, net 263 243  
Interest income 683 747  
Rental income 180 180  
Other income 7 –  
    
 1,133 1,170  
    

 
 
6 Finance costs 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Interest expenses:    
- Lease liabilities 89 51  
- Term loans 541 280  
- Banker’s acceptance 602 525  
Others – 70  
    
 1,232 926  
    

 
 
7 (Loss)/profit before tax 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

This is arrived at after charging:    
    
Audit fees paid/payable to:    
- Auditor of the Company 168 171  
- Other auditors* 102 81  
Fees for non-audit services paid/payable to:    
- Auditor of the Company 14 40  
- Other auditors 101 30  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 5,241 3,154  
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 301 80  
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 3  
Marketing and promotional expenses 12,212 7,591  
Rental expenses (Note 18) 154 137  
Personnel expenses (Note 8) 15,088 18,967  
    

 
 * Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly International network. 
  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023



82

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

 
 

8 Personnel expenses 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Key management personnel    
- Salaries, bonus and other benefits 4,624 6,926  
- Defined contribution plan 235 869  
- Employee share option scheme 102 138  
- Performance share plan – 4,428  
    
 4,961 12,361  
    
Other personnel    
- Salaries, bonus and other benefits 9,185 5,797  
- Defined contribution plan 841 534  
- Employee share option scheme 101 191  
- Performance share plan – 84  
    
 10,127 6,606  
    
 15,088 18,967  
    

 
 
9 Tax expense 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Income tax:    
- Current year – 6,111  
- Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years 692 (117)  
    
 692 5,994  
    
    
Deferred tax (Note 14):    
- Current year (56) (143)  
- Over provision of deferred tax in respect of previous years 530 661  
    
 474 518  
    
 1,166 6,512  
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9 Tax expense (cont’d) 
 
 The income tax expense on the results of the financial year differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying 

the domestic income tax rates applicable to (loss)/profit in the countries where the Group operates due to the following 
factors: 

 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

(Loss)/profit before tax (10,279) 19,635  
    
    
Tax at the domestic income tax rates applicable to (loss)/profit 
  in the countries where the Group operates (2,173) 5,025  
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,270 1,062  
Non-taxable income (3) (1)  
Under/(over) provision of income tax in respect of previous years 692 (117)  
Over provision of deferred tax in respect of previous years 530 661  
Deferred tax asset not recognised 926 –  
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (45) (4)  
Others (31) (114)  
    
 1,166 6,512  
    

 
 The above tax reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction. 
 
 The income tax rate applicable to companies incorporated in Singapore and foreign subsidiaries of the Group are 17% 

(2022: 17%) and 17% to 26% (2022: 17% to 25%) respectively for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. 
 
10 (Loss)/earnings per share 
 
 The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity 

holders of the Company is based on the following data: 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 

(Loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to equity holders 
  of the Company (RM’000) (11,445) 13,124  
    
    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (’000) 334,620 333,821  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for effect 
  of treasury shares held (’000) 334,565 333,780  
    
    
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (RM sen per share) (3.42) 3.93  
    

 
 As disclosed in Note 20, every one ordinary share in the share capital of the Company were sub-divided into three 

ordinary shares during the financial year ended 31 March 2022. As such, the earnings per share calculation for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2022 had been adjusted for the increase in number of ordinary shares resulting from the 
share split. 

 
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group’s potential ordinary shares comprise employee share options. The 
computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share does not adjust for the effects of the potential ordinary shares from 
employee share options as these did not have a dilutive effect on the (loss)/earnings per share calculation since the 
exercise price of the options exceeds the average market price of ordinary shares during the financial year. 
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11 Property, plant and equipment 
    Furniture, 
    fittings  Plant 
 Freehold Freehold Leasehold and Motor and  Work- 
 land properties properties equipment vehicles machinery Renovation in-progress Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Group           
2023           
Cost            
At 1 April 2022 5,171 5,045 1,737 2,632 2,014 14,733 8,138 1,860 41,330  
Additions – 19,328 481 342 662 2,737 724 – 24,274  
Modification of lease liabilities – – 951 – – – – – 951  
Currency translation 
  differences 

 
– 

 
– 30 5 

 
– 3 

 
– 

 
– 38  

           
At 31 March 2023 5,171 24,373 3,199 2,979 2,676 17,473 8,862 1,860 66,593  
           
           
Accumulated depreciation           
At 1 April 2022 – 612 1,021 749 935 7,735 2,457 – 13,509  
Depreciation charge – 262 1,486 505 262 1,857 869 – 5,241  
Currency translation 
  differences 

 
– 

 
– 20 2 

 
– 1 

 
– 

 
– 23  

           
At 31 March 2023 – 874 2,527 1,256 1,197 9,593 3,326 – 18,773  
           
           
Net carrying value           
At 31 March 2023 5,171 23,499 672 1,723 1,479 7,880 5,536 1,860 47,820  
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11 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
    Furniture, 
    fittings  Plant 
 Freehold Freehold Leasehold and Motor and  Work- 
 land properties properties equipment vehicles machinery Renovation in-progress Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Group           
2022           
Cost            
At 1 April 2021 5,171 5,045 1,686 1,631 2,064 13,293 6,585 1,860 37,335  
Additions – – 129 999 – 1,440 1,553 – 4,121  
Modification of lease liabilities – – (76) – – – – – (76)  
Disposals – – – – (50) – – – (50)  
Currency translation 
  differences – – (2) 2 – – – – –  
           
At 31 March 2022 5,171 5,045 1,737 2,632 2,014 14,733 8,138 1,860 41,330  
           
           
Accumulated depreciation           
At 1 April 2021 – 511 778 380 744 6,225 1,794 – 10,432  
Depreciation charge – 101 306 370 204 1,510 663 – 3,154  
Modification of lease liabilities – – (67) – – – – – (67)  
Disposals – – – – (13) – – – (13)  
Currency translation 
  differences – – 

 
4 (1) – 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 3  

           
At 31 March 2022 – 612 1,021 749 935 7,735 2,457 – 13,509  
           
           
Net carrying value           
At 31 March 2022 5,171 4,433 716 1,883 1,079 6,998 5,681 1,860 27,821  
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11 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 

i) Included in property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets of RM1,964,000 (2022: RM1,503,000) (Note 18). 
 

ii) Net cash outflow for purchase of property, plant and equipment. 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Aggregate cost of property, plant and equipment acquired 24,274 4,121  
Less: additions to right-of-use assets (Note 18) (1,143) (129)  
    
Net cash outflow for purchase of property, plant and equipment 23,131 3,992  
    

 
iii) Assets pledged as security 

 
 The Group’s freehold land and properties with a carrying amount of RM28,670,000  

(2022: RM9,604,000) are pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings (Note 18). 
 
 
12 Intangible assets 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Acquired computer software license [Note (a)] 2,014 442  
Patents and trademarks [Note (b)] 350 374  
    
 2,364 816  
    

 
a) Acquired computer software licenses 

 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Cost    
At 1 April 1,108 985  
Additions 1,844 123  
    
At 31 March 2,952 1,108  
    
    
Amortisation    
At 1 April 666 616  
Amortisation charge 272 50  
    
At 31 March 938 666  
    
    
Net carrying amount    
At 31 March 2,014 442  
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12 Intangible assets (cont’d) 
 

b) Patent and trademarks 
 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Cost    
At 1 April 425 423  
Additions 5 2  
    
At 31 March 430 425  
    
    
Amortisation    
At 1 April 51 21  
Amortisation charge 29 30  
    
At 31 March 80 51  
    
    
Net carrying amount    
At 31 March 350 374  
    

 
 
13 Investment in subsidiaries 
 Company 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Unquoted shares, at cost    
Balance at beginning of financial year 16,403 11,290  
Addition due to incorporation of subsidiary 3,150 272  
Addition due to share options issued to employees of 
  its subsidiaries (Note 22) 203 329  
Addition due to share awards granted to employees of 
  its subsidiaries (Note 22) – 4,512  
    
 19,756 16,403  
Less: Allowance for impairment loss (1,393) (745)  
    
Balance at end of financial year 18,363 15,658  
    
    
Allowance for impairment loss    
Balance at beginning of financial year 745 745  
Impairment charge 648 –  
    
Balance at end of financial year 1,393 745  
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13 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 
 i) Details of the subsidiaries are: 
    Proportion of 
  Principal  ownership 
  place of Principal interest 
 Name of subsidiary business business activities 2023 2022 
    % % 

Held by the Company     
Samurai 2K Aerosol Sdn. Bhd. 
(Formerly known as Orientus 
  Industry Sdn. Bhd.) (1)  

Malaysia Manufacturing and sales 
of aerosol spray paints 
and related material 

100 100 

     
PT Samurai Paint (2) Indonesia Dormant 67 67 
     
Samurai 2K USA Inc (2) United States 

of America 
Import aerosol paint 
products and wholesales 

100 100 

Orientus Singapore Pte Ltd (3) Singapore Trading of aerosol spray 
paints and related 
material 

100 100 

Samurai 2U Sdn. Bhd. (1) Malaysia To carry business of E-
Commerce for all type of 
goods 

100 100 

Samurai 2K India Private 
  Limited (2) 

India Import aerosol paint 
products and wholesales 

100 # 100 # 

PT Samurai Kurobushi  
  Indonesia (2) (4) 

Indonesia Dormant 100 ## – 

 
 (1) Audited by independent overseas member firm of Baker Tilly International. 
 
 (2) Not required to be audited by law of country of incorporation. 
 
 (3)  Audited by Baker Tilly TFW LLP, Singapore. 
 
 (4)  Incorporated during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 with share capital of Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”) 

10,500,000,000. 
  
 # In Samurai 2K India Private Limited, 99.9998% equity interest is held by the Company and 0.0002% equity 

interest is held in trust for the Company by an individual. Effectively, the Company holds 100% of the voting 
rights of Samurai 2K India Private Limited. 

 
 ## In PT Samurai Kurobushi Indonesia, 99% equity interest is held by the Company and 1% equity interest is held 

in trust for the Company by an individual. Effectively, the Company holds 100% of the voting rights of PT 
Samurai Kurobushi Indonesia. 

 
 ii) At the end of the reporting period, there are no subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that are considered by 

management to be material to the Group. Accordingly, the summarised financial information of the subsidiaries is 
not being disclosed. 
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13 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 
 iii) During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Company fully impaired the cost of investment in PT Samurai 

Paint as there were no business plans for PT Samurai Paint. For the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 
March 2022, there were no changes in plans for PT Samurai Paint. Accordingly, no reversal of impairment was 
made. 

 
14 Deferred tax 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The movements in the 
deferred tax accounts are as follows: 

 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

At 1 April 1,265 755 – –  
Tax charged to profit or loss 
  (Note 9) 474 518 

 
– –  

Currency translation difference (31) (8) – –  
      
At 31 March 1,708 1,265 – –  
      
      
Representing:      
Deferred tax assets (78) (688) – –  
Deferred tax liabilities 1,786 1,953 – –  
      
 1,708 1,265 – –  
      

 The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon 
during the current and prior financial year: 

 Accelerated 
 tax Tax 
 depreciation losses Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

At 1 April 2021 1,435 (680) 755  
Tax charged to profit or loss 518 – 518  
Currency translation difference – (8) (8)  
     
At 31 March 2022 1,953 (688) 1,265  
Tax charged/(credited) to profit or loss 522 (48) 474  
Currency translation difference – (31) (31)  
     
At 31 March 2023 2,475 (767) 1,708  
     

 
At the reporting date, the Group has unutilised tax losses of RM7,739,000 (2022: RM3,633,000) that are available for 
carry forward to offset against future taxable income subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with 
certain provisions of the tax legislation to the respective countries in which companies operate. Deferred tax assets of 
RM78,000 (2022: RM688,000) have been recognised in respect of such losses. Unutilised tax losses of RM623,000 
(2022: RM623,000) are available for carry forward until 2037 and unutilised tax losses of RM7,116,000 (2022: 
RM3,010,000) are available for carry forward indefinitely. 
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15 Inventories 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Raw materials 9,189 9,344  
Work-in-progress 5,229 3,936  
Finished goods 2,413 4,366  
    
 16,831 17,646  
    

 
 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales amounted to RM38,990,000  

(2022: RM56,858,000).  
 
 
16 Trade and other receivables 
 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Non-current      
Trade receivables – 430 – –  
Deposits – 180 – –  
Prepayments 4,764 3,027 – –  
      
 4,764 3,637 – –  
      
      
Current      
Trade receivables 15,261 18,018 – –  
Advance payment to suppliers 585 1,075 – –  
Amount due from subsidiaries – – 41,691 32,037  
Dividend receivable from 
  subsidiary 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

 
15,000 

 

Deposits 1,100 962 – –  
Other receivables 266 99 – –  
Prepayments 748 2,500 142 153  
      
 17,960 22,654 41,833 47,190  
Less: Allowance for impairment – – (8,048) –  
      
 17,960 22,654 33,785 47,190  
      
 22,724 26,291 33,785 47,190  
      

 
 Amount due from subsidiaries are interest-free, non-trade in nature, unsecured and repayable on demand. 
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17 Cash and bank balances 
 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Cash in hand and at bank 3,421 35,439 1,703 4,704  
Fixed deposits 31,067 37,672 – –  
      
Cash and bank balances 34,488 73,111 1,703 4,704  
      

 
 For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 

following at the end of the reporting period: 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Cash and bank balances 34,488 73,111  
Less: Pledged fixed deposits (1,224) (1,169)  
    
Cash and cash equivalents 33,264 71,942  
    

 
Fixed deposits amounting to RM1,224,000 (2022: RM1,169,000) are pledged to banks as collateral for banking facilities 
granted (Note 18).  

 
18 Borrowings 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 Repayment period RM’000 RM’000 

Non-current     
Loan 1 - 2.1% per annum below  
  bank Base Lend Rate (“BLR”) 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 1,540 1,585  

     
Loan 2 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 1,419 1,586  

     
Loan 3 - 0.5% per annum above BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 57 63  

     
Loan 4 - 0.51% per annum above BLR 240 monthly instalments from 

  October 2022 4,027 –  
     
Loan 5 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Loan 6 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Loan 7 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Lease liabilities  1,387 715  
     
  20,175 3,949  

18 Borrowings (cont’d) 
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 Group 
 2023 2022 
 Repayment period RM’000 RM’000 

Current     
Loan 1 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
August 2016 167 164  

     
Loan 2 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
August 2016 169 162  

     
Loan 3 - 0.5% per annum above BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments  
from August 2016 6 7  

     
Loan 4 - 0.51% per annum above BLR 240 monthly instalments from 

October 2022 160 –  
     
Loan 5 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

September 2022 106 –  
     
Loan 6 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

September 2022 106 –  
     
Loan 7 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

September 2022 106 –  
     
Banker’s acceptance - 4.11% to 7.18%  
  (2022: 1.40% to 3.20%) above bank 
  Cost of Funds Rate  10,960 16,962  
     
Lease liabilities  974 491  
     
  12,754 17,786  
     
  32,929 21,735  
     

 
 The loans and banker’s acceptance are secured by: 
 

(i) Fixed deposits placed with the bank (Note 17); 
(ii) Freehold land and properties of the Group (Note 11); 
(iii) Corporate guarantee issued by the Company; and 
(iv) A business loan reducing term assurance covered for the joint life of the guarantors. 

 
 Determination of fair value of borrowings (except for lease liabilities) 
 
 The carrying amounts of borrowings (except for lease liabilities) approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting 

period. 
 

The fair values of the borrowings, determined from discounted cash flow analysis using the market lending rate that the 
directors expect would be available to the Group at the end of the reporting period, are reasonable approximation of 
carrying amounts as they are floating rate instruments that are repriced to market interest rates on or near the end of 
the reporting period. The fair value measurement for disclosure purposes is categorised in Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
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17 Cash and bank balances 
 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Cash in hand and at bank 3,421 35,439 1,703 4,704  
Fixed deposits 31,067 37,672 – –  
      
Cash and bank balances 34,488 73,111 1,703 4,704  
      

 
 For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 

following at the end of the reporting period: 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Cash and bank balances 34,488 73,111  
Less: Pledged fixed deposits (1,224) (1,169)  
    
Cash and cash equivalents 33,264 71,942  
    

 
Fixed deposits amounting to RM1,224,000 (2022: RM1,169,000) are pledged to banks as collateral for banking facilities 
granted (Note 18).  

 
18 Borrowings 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 Repayment period RM’000 RM’000 

Non-current     
Loan 1 - 2.1% per annum below  
  bank Base Lend Rate (“BLR”) 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 1,540 1,585  

     
Loan 2 - 2.1% per annum below BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 1,419 1,586  

     
Loan 3 - 0.5% per annum above BLR 
 

180 monthly instalments from 
  August 2016 57 63  

     
Loan 4 - 0.51% per annum above BLR 240 monthly instalments from 

  October 2022 4,027 –  
     
Loan 5 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Loan 6 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Loan 7 - 1.42% per annum above BLR 300 monthly instalments from 

  September 2022 3,915 –  
     
Lease liabilities  1,387 715  
     
  20,175 3,949  

18 Borrowings (cont’d) 
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18 Borrowings (cont’d) 
 
 Lease liabilities 
 

Nature of the Group’s leasing activities 
 

The Group’s leasing activities comprise the following: 
 

i) The Group leases various warehouses and motor vehicles from non-related parties. The leases have an average 
tenure of between three to six years. 

ii) The Group leases hostels for employees with contractual tenure of less than one year. 
 

The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 26(b). 
 

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Classified within property, plant and equipment    
Leasehold properties 672 716  
Motor vehicles 1,292 787  
    
 1,964 1,503  
    

 
Additions to right-of-use assets 

 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Leasehold properties 481 129  
Motor vehicles 662 –  
    
 1,143 129  
    

 Amount recognised in profit or loss 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 

Depreciation charge for the financial year    
Leasehold properties 1,486 306  
Motor vehicles 157 174  
    
 1,643 480  
    
Lease expense not included in the measurement of 
  lease liabilities 

  
 

Lease expense - short-term leases 91 35  
Variable lease payments which do not depends on 
  an index or rate 

 
63 

 
102 

 

    
Total (Note 7) 154 137  
    
Interest expense on lease liabilities 89 51  
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18 Borrowings (cont’d) 
 
 Lease liabilities (cont’d) 
 
 Amount recognised in profit or loss (cont’d) 
 
 Total cash flows for leases amounted to RM1,188,000 (2022: RM799,000). 
 
 Future cash outflow which are not capitalised in lease liabilities 
 
 Variable lease payments 
 

The lease of a warehouse contains variable lease payments that is based on a percentage of the expenses incurred by 
the landlord in connection with the operation, ownership, management, repair or maintenance of the building. Overall, 
the variable payments constitute up to 5.6% (2022: 12.8%) of the Group’s entire lease payments. These variable lease 
payments are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

 
 Extension options 
 

The lease of a warehouse contains an extension option, for which the related lease payments had not been included in 
the lease liabilities as the Group is not reasonably certain to extend the lease. This lease is used to maximise operational 
flexibility in terms of managing the asset used in the Group’s operations. 

 
 Reconciliation movement of liabilities to cash flow arising from financing activities: 
 Lease Bank 
 liabilities borrowings Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Balance at 1 April 2021 1,694 18,723 20,417  
     
Changes from financing cash flows:     
- Proceeds – 1,822 1,822  
- Repayments  (611) (16) (627)  
- Interest paid (51) (805) (856)  
     
Non-cash changes:     
- Interest expense 51 805 856  
- Lease termination (9) – (9)  
- Additions of new leases 129 – 129  
- Currency translation differences 3 – 3  
     
Balance at 31 March 2022 1,206 20,529 21,735  
     
Changes from financing cash flows:     
- Proceeds – 16,400 16,400  
- Repayments  (878) (6,361) (7,239)  
- Interest paid (89) (1,143) (1,232)  
     
Non-cash changes:     
- Interest expense 89 1,143 1,232  
- Additions of new leases 1,076 – 1,076  
- Modification of leases 951 – 951  
- Currency translation differences 6 – 6  
     
Balance at 31 March 2023 2,361 30,568 32,929  
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19 Trade and other payables 
 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Current      
Trade payables      
- Third parties 13,161 24,709 – –  
      
Other payables      
- Third parties 305 223 261 –  
      
Accrued expenses 4,182 3,276 1,066 273  
Amount due to a subsidiaries – – 3,191 260  
      
 17,648 28,208 4,518 533  
      
      
Non-current      
Other payables 94 94 – –  
      

 
 Amount due to a subsidiaries is interest-free, non-trade in nature, unsecured and repayable on demand.  
 

Included within accrued expenses are accrued payroll costs relating to the key management personnel amounting to 
RM3,458,000 (2022: RM2,657,000) for the Group and RM802,000 (2022: RMNil) for the Company. 

 
20 Share capital  
 2023 2022 
 No. of shares  No. of shares 
 ’000 RM’000 ’000 RM’000 

Group and Company      
Ordinary shares      
At 1 April  334,620 57,165 109,921 52,653  
Issuance of shares pursuant to  
  the share awards (Note 22) – – 1,619 4,512 

 

Share split(1) – – 223,080 –  
      
At 31 March 334,620 57,165 334,620 57,165  
      
Treasury shares      
At 1 April 55 64 – –  
Share buy-back – – 55 64  
      
At 31 March 55 64 55 64  
      

 
(1) On 25 June 2021, every one existing ordinary share in the capital of the Company were sub-divided into three 

ordinary shares.  
 
 All issued shares are fully paid ordinary shares with no par value. 
 
 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 

shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. 
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21 Dividends 
  Group and Company 
 2023 2022
 RM’000 RM’000 

Interim exempt dividend of SGD0.002 per share paid 
  in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2022 – 2,066  
Special exempt dividend of SGD0.004 per share paid 
  in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2022 – 4,133  
Final exempt dividend of SGD0.00667 per share paid 
  in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2021 – 6,976  
Final exempt dividend of SGD0.002 per share paid 
  in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2022 2,160 –  
Special exempt dividend of SGD0.004 per share paid 
  in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2022 4,319 –  
    
 6,479 13,175  
    

 
22 Share option reserve  
 

The Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited’s Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) and Employee Share Option Scheme (the 
“Scheme”) were approved and adopted by the members at the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 December 2016 and 
will continue to remain in force until 15 December 2026, unless terminated in accordance with the rules of the Plan and 
Scheme. The Plan and Scheme provide for the grant of shares and share options to employees and directors of the 
Group. 

 
The Plan and Scheme are administered by the Remuneration Committee of the Company, comprising of Mr Hau Hock 
Khun (Chairman), Mr Lim Siang Kai and Mr Lim Chong Huat. A member of the Remuneration Committee who is also a 
participant of the Plan and Scheme must not be involved in its deliberation in respect of awards and options granted or 
to be granted to him. 

 
The aggregate number of shares and share options which may be issued or transferred pursuant to awards granted 
under the Plan and Scheme on any date, when aggregated with the aggregate number of shares over which awards 
and options are granted under any other share option schemes or share schemes of the Company, shall not exceed 
15% of the total number of issued shares (excluding shares held by the Company as treasury shares) on the day 
preceding that date. 

 
Scheme 

 
The aggregate number of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the Scheme available to 
the controlling shareholders and their associates shall not exceed 25% of the total number of shares available under the 
Scheme. 

 
The aggregate number of shares issued and issuable in respect of all options granted under the Scheme available to 
each controlling shareholder or his associates shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares available under the 
Scheme. 

 
Options granted with the exercise price set at market price shall only be exercisable, in whole or in part (provided that 
an option may be exercised in part only in respect of 100 shares or any multiple thereof), at any time, by a participant 
after the first anniversary of the offer date of that option, provided always that the options shall be exercised before the 
tenth anniversary of the relevant offer date, or such earlier and later date as may be determined by the Remuneration 
Committee, failing which all unexercised options shall immediately lapse and become null and void and a participant 
shall have no claim against the Company. 

  



97

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

 
 

22 Share option reserve (cont’d) 
 

Scheme (cont’d) 
 

Options granted with the exercise price set at a discount to market price shall only be exercisable, in whole or in part 
(provided that an option may be exercised in part only in respect of 100 shares or any multiple thereof), at any time, by 
a participant after the second anniversary from the offer date of that option, provided always that the options shall be 
exercised before the tenth anniversary of the relevant offer date, or such earlier and later date as may be determined by 
the Remuneration Committee, failing which all unexercised options shall immediately lapse and become null and void 
and a participant shall have no claim against the Company. 

 
An option shall, to the extent unexercised, immediately lapse and become null and void and a participant shall have no 
claim against the Company: 

 
a) subject to the rules of the Schemes, upon the participant ceasing to be in employment of the Company or any of 

the companies within the Group for any reason whatsoever; 
b) upon the bankruptcy of the participant or the happening of any other event which result in his being deprived of the 

legal or beneficial ownership of such option; or 
c) in the event of misconduct on the part of the participant, as determined by the Remuneration Committee. 

 
Movement in the number of options granted by the Company under the Scheme for the Group’s employees are as 
follows: 
 
  No. of options under the Scheme 
 

Beginning of 
financial year 

Granted during 
financial year 

Forfeited 
during 

financial year 

 
Modification 

during financial 
year* 

Vested 
during 

financial year 
End of  

financial year 
       
2023       
3 June 2019 345,000 – (36,000) – – 309,000 
31 May 2021 2,505,000 – (660,000) – – 1,845,000 
       
       
2022       
3 June 2019 164,000 – (49,000) 230,000 – 345,000 
31 May 2021 – 1,190,000 (355,000) 1,670,000 – 2,505,000 
       

 
 * Pursuant to the share split exercise in 2021 (Note 20), the number of outstanding unexercised options were adjusted 

on the basis that one option will be split into three options.  
 

On 31 May 2021, 1,190,000 share options were granted to employees of the Group pursuant to the Scheme.  

The details of the outstanding number of options at the end of the reporting period was: 
 

Exercise price(1) Grant date Exercise period 
SGD0.305 3 June 2019 3 June 2022 to 2 June 2029 
SGD0.347 31 May 2021 31 May 2024 to 30 May 2031 

 
(1) Based on the new exercise price after the share split exercise (Note 20).  
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22 Share option reserve (cont’d) 
 

Scheme (cont’d) 
 

The share options outstanding as at the end of the financial year have a remaining contractual life of 6.17 to 8.16 (2022: 
7.17 to 9.16) years. 

 
 The fair value of each option granted on 3 June 2019 (“FY2020 Grant”) and 31 May 2021 (“FY2022 Grant) was RM0.40 

and RM0.47 respectively. The estimate of the fair value of each option issued on grant date was based on the Binomial 
Options Pricing model. In order to approximate the expectations that would be reflected in a current market or negotiated 
exchange price for these options, the calculation takes into consideration factors like behavioural considerations and 
non-transferability of the options granted. 

 
 The Binomial Options Pricing model used the following assumptions: 

 FY2020 Grant FY2022 Grant 
   
Underlying share price (SGD) 0.910 1.070 
Exercise price (SGD) 0.916 1.042 
Dividend yield expected 0.50% 0.97% 
Risk-free annual interest rates 1.96% 1.05% 
Expected life 6.5 years 6.5 years 
Expected volatility 43.31% 45.01% 
   

 
 Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price from date of initial 

public offering to the grant date which was compared against the historical volatility range of the comparable companies 
for the period of 6.5 years prior to the valuation date. The expected lives used in the model have been adjusted, based 
on management best estimates, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural 
considerations. 

 
Plan 

 
On 31 May 2021, the Company granted 1,618,929 shares awards to employees of the Group pursuant to the Plan. The 
share awards have been vested on the date of grant and is under moratorium against any disposal or sales/or other 
dealings in the share as follow: 

 
(i) Tranche 1: 33% of the shares after 1 year from the date of grant (i.e.: 30 May 2022) 
(ii) Tranche 2: 33% of the shares after 2 years from the date of grant (i.e.: 30 May 2023) 
(iii) Tranche 3: Balance 34% of the shares after 3 years from the date of grant (i.e.: 30 May 2024) 

 
 The estimate of the fair value of each share awards on the grant date was based on the Finnerty Put Option model, 

which takes into consideration the restrictions on the transferability of the shares.  
 
 The Finnerty Put Option model used the following key assumptions: 

 Share awards 
  
Underlying share price (SGD) 1.070 
Dividend yield expected 0.97% 
Risk-free annual interest rates 0.33% - 0.51% 
Annualised volatility 41.40% - 64.30% 
  

 
 In 2022, personnel expenses amounted to RM4,512,000 based on the fair value of the share awards have been 

recognised in the Group’s profit or loss.   
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23 Merger reserve 
 

Merger reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid by the Company and the share capital of the 
subsidiaries acquired under common control. 

 
 
24 Contingent liabilities 
 

The Company has provided corporate guarantees of RM55,931,000 (2022: RM39,531,000) to banks for bank borrowings 
of RM30,568,000 (2022: RM20,529,000) drawn down by its subsidiary at the end of reporting period. 

 
 
25 Capital commitments 
 

Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements: 
 

Group 
 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Capital commitment in respect of property, plant and 
  equipment 

 
– 

 
22,216  

    
 
 
26 Financial instruments 
 
 a) Categories of financial instruments 
 

 Financial instruments at their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 
 Group Company 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Financial assets      
Financial assets at 
  amortised cost 50,849 92,701 35,346 51,741  
      
      
Financial liabilities      
Financial liabilities at 
  amortised cost 

 
50,616 

 
49,943 

 
4,518 

 
533 

 

      
 
 b) Financial risk management 
 
  The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial 

instruments. The key financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below. The directors review and agree policies and 
procedures for the management of these risks. 

 
  There has been no change to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 

which the Group and the Company manage and measure financial risks. 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Foreign currency risk 
 

The Group and the Company have currency exposures arising from transactions, assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in currencies other than their respective functional currencies of entities in the Group. The foreign 
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the United States Dollar (“USD”), Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”), 
Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), British Pound Sterling (“GBP”) and Indian Rupee (“INR”). 

 
There is no formal hedging policy with respect to foreign currency exposure. Exposure to foreign currency risk is 
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group endeavours to keep the net exposure at a level that is deemed 
acceptable by management. 

 
  At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have the following financial assets and financial 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies based on information provided to key management:  
 USD IDR SGD GBP INR 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Group      
2023      
Financial assets      
Trade and other receivables 2,832 10,657 – 159 – 
Cash and bank balances 88 – 1,946 55 348 
      
 2,920 10,657 1,946 214 348 
      
      
Financial liabilities      
Trade and other payables (363) – (1,310) – (1,933) 
      
Net financial  
  assets/(liabilities)  
  denominated in foreign  
  currencies 2,557 10,657 636 214 (1,585) 
      

 
 USD IDR SGD GBP 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

2022     
Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables 1,509 15,326 – 161 
Cash and bank balances 6,031 11 3,403 274 
     
 7,540 15,337 3,403 435 
     
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables (773) (60) – – 
     
Net financial assets denominated in 
  foreign currencies 6,767 

 
15,277 

 
3,403 

 
435 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 
 USD SGD IDR 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Company     
2023     
Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables 11 – –  
Cash and bank balances 2 1,701 –  
     
 13 1,701 –  
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables – (1,310) (3,150)  
     
Net financial assets/(liabilities) denominated in  
  foreign currencies 

 
13 

 
391 

 
(3,150) 

 

     
2022     
Financial assets     
Trade and other receivables 5,466 – –  
Cash and bank balances 1,675 3,029 –  
     
 7,141 3,029 –  
     
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables (260) – –  
     
Net financial assets denominated in foreign 
  currencies 

 
6,881 

 
3,029 

 
– 

 

     
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD, IDR, SGD, GBP and 
INR exchange rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group’s profit after tax: 

 Group 
 increase/(decrease) 
 in profit after tax 
  2023 2022 
  RM’000 RM’000 

USD/RM    
- strengthened 10% (2022: 10%) 164 597  
- weakened 10% (2022: 10%) (164) (597)  
    
IDR/RM    
- strengthened 10% (2022: 10%) 810 1,161  
- weakened 10% (2022: 10%) (810) (1,161)  
    
SGD/RM    
- strengthened 10% (2022: 10%) 52 278  
- weakened 10% (2022: 10%) (52) (278)  
    
GBP/RM    
- strengthened 10% (2022: 10%) 16 33  
- weakened 10% (2022: 10%) (16) (33)  
    
INR/RM    
- strengthened 10% (2022: Nil) (117) –  
- weakened 10% (2022: Nil) 117 –  
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Foreign currency risk (cont’d) 
 
 Company 
 

If the SGD exchange rate against RM strengthened/weakened by 10%, with all other variables held constant, the 
Company’s profit after tax will be higher/lower by RM32,000 (2022: RM251,000). If the USD exchange rate against 
RM strengthened/weakened by 10%, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit after tax will be 
higher/lower by RM1,000 (2022: RM571,000). If the IDR exchange rate against RM strengthened/weakened by 
10%, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit after tax will be lower/higher by RM261,000 (2022: 
RMNil). 

 
The sensitivity analysis for the other foreign currencies is not disclosed as the impact on the Group’s and the 
Company’s profit after tax is not significant. 

 
 Interest rate risk 
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 

instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure 
to interest rate risk arises primarily from their borrowings and deposits placed with the financial institutions at variable 
rates. Borrowings and deposits at variable rates expose the Group and the Company to cash flow interest rate risk 
(i.e. the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates). 
The Group and the Company do not utilise derivatives to mitigate its interest rate risk. 

 
 The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for borrowings at the 

reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant 
throughout the reporting period in the case of borrowings that have floating rates. 

 
 The Group’s borrowings at variable rates on which effective hedges have not been entered into, are denominated 

mainly in RM. If the RM interest rates increase/decrease by 50 (2022: 50) basis points with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the loss after tax of the Group will be higher/lower by RM116,000 (2022: 
RM78,000) as a result of higher/lower interest expense on these borrowings.  

 
  Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its 
obligations. The Group has credit policies in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis 
by the management. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. Cash 
and bank balances are placed with banks with high credit-ratings. 

 
 The Group does not have significant credit risk except that the Group’s trade receivables comprise 3 debtors (2022: 

3 debtors) that collectively represented 86% (2022: 85%) of the trade receivables. The Company has no significant 
concentration of credit risks except for the amount due from subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 16. 

 
As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying 
amount of each class of financial instruments presented on the statements of financial position. 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

The following sets out the Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition and measurement 
of expected credit losses (“ECL”): 

 
Description of evaluation of financial assets 
 

Basis for recognition and measurement of 
ECL 

Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any past due amounts 
 

12-month ECL 

Contractual payments are more than 30 days past due 
or where there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition 
 

Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired 

Contractual payments are more than 90 days past due 
or there is evidence of credit impairment 
 

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired 

There is evidence indicating that the Group has no 
reasonable expectation of recovery of payments such as 
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or 
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings 
  

Write-off 

 
 Significant increase in credit risk 
 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial asset as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers 
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and 
forward-looking information, such as future economic and industry outlook that is available without undue cost or 
effort. 

 
In particular, the Group considers the following information when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition: 

 
• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results/key financial performance ratios of the 

debtor; and 
• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of 

the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 
 

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 

 
Regardless of the evaluation of the above factors, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless 
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Credit risk (cont’d) 
 
 Significant increase in credit risk (cont’d) 
 

The Group also assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally 
understood definition, or the financial asset has a low risk of default; the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and adverse changes in economic and business conditions in 
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 
obligations. 

 
  Definition of default 
 

 The Group has determined the default events on a financial asset to be when there is evidence that the borrower is 
experiencing liquidity issues or when there is a breach of contract, such as a default of payment. 

 
 The Group considers the above as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as 

historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally not 
recoverable. 

 
 Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 

than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 

 
  Credit-impaired financial assets 
 

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred such as evidence that the borrower is in significant financial difficulty, 
there is a breach of contract such as default or past due event; there is information that it is becoming probable that 
the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount 
that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

 
  Estimation techniques and significant assumptions 
 

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current financial 
year for recognition and measurement of credit loss allowances. 

 
  Amount 
  due from 
  subsidiaries 
  RM’000 
 

Company    
Balance at 1 April 2022  –  
    
Loss allowance measured:    
Lifetime ECL    
- Significant increase in credit risk  8,048  
    
Balance at 31 March 2023  8,048  
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

Trade receivables 
 

The Group applies the simplified approach to measure the expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance for trade 
receivables.  

 
The Group determined the lifetime ECL of trade receivables by performing an ECL assessment for each debtor by 
considering the effects of the macroeconomic uncertainties historical loss rate, recent payments, ongoing business 
relationship, creditworthiness of each debtor and their ability to repay. Management assessed that there is 
immaterial loss allowance relating to trade receivables. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost 

 
 
2023 
Group 

12-month 
or lifetime ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

 
Loss 

allowance 
RM’000 

Net 
carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

Trade receivables 
 

Lifetime ECL 15,261 – 15,261 

Deposits Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

1,100 – 1,100 

Cash and bank balances Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

34,488 – 34,488 

 
2023 
Company 

    

Amount due from 
  subsidiaries 
  

12-month ECL  33,643 – 33,643 

Amount due from 
  subsidiary 
 

Lifetime ECL 8,048 (8,048) – 

Cash and bank balances Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

1,703 – 1,703 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
  Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost (cont’d) 
 

 
2022 
Group 

12-month 
or lifetime ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

 
Loss allowance 

RM’000 

Net 
carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

Trade receivables 
 

Lifetime ECL 18,448 – 18,448 

Deposits Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

1,142 – 1,142 

Cash and bank balances Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

73,111 – 73,111 

 
2022 
Company 

    

Amount due from 
  subsidiaries 
  

12-month ECL  26,571 – 26,571 

Amount due from 
  subsidiary 
 

Lifetime ECL 5,466 – 5,466 

Dividend receivable 
  from subsidiary  
 

12-month ECL 
 

15,000 – 15,000 

Cash and bank balances Not applicable 
(Exposure 

limited) 
  

4,704 – 4,704 

 
 Amount due from subsidiaries  
 
 For the amount due from subsidiaries where impairment loss allowance is measured using 12-month ECL, the 

Company assessed the latest performance and financial position of the respective counterparties, adjusted for the 
future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant 
increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. Accordingly, the Company measured 
the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant at the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
For amount due from subsidiary at lifetime ECL as at 31 March 2023, the Company assessed the latest performance 
and financial position of the subsidiary, adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparty 
operates in, and concluded that the measurement of the impairment loss allowance using lifetime ECL is 
appropriate.  

 
For amount due from subsidiary at lifetime ECL as at 31 March 2022, the Company assessed the latest performance 
and financial position of the subsidiary, adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparty 
operates in. In addition, another subsidiary of the Group has undertaken to repay the amount due from subsidiary 
as at 31 March 2022. The Company had assessed that the loss given default is immaterial. 
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
 Credit risk (cont’d) 
 

Financial guarantee 
 

The Company has issued financial guarantees of RM55,931,000 (2022: RM39,531,000) to banks for bank 
borrowings of RM30,568,000 (2022: RM20,529,000) drawn down by its subsidiary at the end of reporting period. 
These guarantees are subject to the impairment requirements of SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments. The Company 
has assessed that its subsidiary has strong financial capacity to meet the contractual cash flow obligations and 
does not expect significant credit losses arising from these guarantees. 

 
 Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 
to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of 
the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. The Group and the Company 
manage the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash to enable them to meet their normal operating commitments 
and having an adequate amount of committed credit facilities (Note 18). 

 
  The table below shows the contractual expiry by the maturity of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities 

at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations: 
 
 Repayable 
 on demand Within 
 or within 2 to 5 Over 
 1 year  years 5 years Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Group      
2023      
Trade and other payables 17,648 – – 17,648  
Borrowings  12,436 5,905 19,817 38,158  
Lease liabilities 1,066 1,450 – 2,516  
 

 

    
 31,150 7,355 19,817 58,322  
 

 

    
      
2022      
Trade and other payables 28,208 – – 28,208  
Borrowings  17,431 1,879 1,902 21,212  
Lease liabilities 505 752 1 1,258  
 

 

    
 46,144 2,631 1,903 50,678  
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26 Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
 b) Financial risk management (cont’d) 
 
 Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 
  The table below shows the contractual expiry by the maturity of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities 

at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations (cont’d): 
 Repayable 
 on demand Within 
 or within 2 to 5 Over 
 1 year  years 5 years Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Company 
 

    
2023 

 
    

Trade and other payables 4,518 – – 4,518  
Financial guarantee 
  contracts* 30,568 – – 30,568  
 

 

    
 35,086 – – 35,086  
 

 

    
 

 
    

2022 
 

    
Trade and other payables 533 – – 533  
Financial guarantee 
  contracts* 20,529 – – 20,529  
 

 

    
 21,062 – – 21,062  
 

 

    
 

* At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure of the Company in respect of the intragroup financial 
guarantee (Note 24) based on facilities drawn down by the subsidiary is RM30,568,000 (2022: RM20,529,000). 
The Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under intragroup 
financial guarantee. 

 
27 Fair values of assets and liabilities 
 
 Fair value hierarchy 
 
 The tables below analyse the fair value measurements by the levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to 

the valuation techniques. The different levels are defined as follows: 
 
 (i) Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
 (ii) Level 2 -  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
 (iii) Level 3 -  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
 

There has been no transfer between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the financial years ended  
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022. 

 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities (except for lease liabilities) are reasonable approximation of fair 
values as they are short-term in nature, market interest rate instruments, or fixed rate instruments whereby the fixed 
rates approximate market interest rates on or near the end of the reporting period. 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company do not have any financial instruments carried at fair 
value. 
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28 Segment information 
 
 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products, and have three operating 

segments as follows: 
 
 (a) The paint - standard segment includes standard colour aerosol spray paint products. 
 (b) The paint - premium segment includes fluorescent, candy and metallic colour aerosol spray paint products, high 

temperature aerosol spray paint products, primer products, epoxy products, 2K products and multi-colour one 
aerosol spray paint. 

 (c) The maintenance and others segment includes cosmetic products such as metal and paint polish and maintenance 
products such as engine degreaser, chain oil, carburetor and gasket cleaner. 

 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for making decisions about allocation of 
resources and assessment of performances for each segment. 

 
 The segment information provided to management for the reportable segments are as follows: 
 

 
Paint - 

Standard 
Paint - 

Premium 
Maintenance 
and others Group 

 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  
      
2023      
Segment revenue      
Sales to external customers 42,154 27,678 436 70,268  
      
      
Segment loss (5,837) (3,833) (60) (9,730)  
      
      
Other segment information      
Depreciation of property, plant 
  and equipment 3,755 1,457 29 5,241  
Amortisation of intangible assets 180 119 2 301  
      
      
Segment assets 55,887 36,695 578 93,160  
Unallocated assets      
- Deferred tax assets    78  
- Fixed deposits    31,067  
- Tax recoverable    4,035  
      
Total assets    128,340  
      
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to non-current assets 15,672 10,289 162 26,123  
      
      
Segment liabilities 12,060 7,918 125 20,103  
Unallocated liabilities      
- Deferred tax liabilities    1,786  
- Borrowings (excluding lease liabilities)    30,568  
- Tax payable    737  
      
Total liabilities    53,194  
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28 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 The segment information provided to management for the reportable segments are as follows (cont’d): 
 

 
Paint - 

Standard 
Paint - 

Premium 
Maintenance 
and others Group 

 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  
2022      
Segment revenue      
Sales to external customers 65,527 46,953 558 113,038  
      
      
Segment profit 11,486 8,230 98 19,814  
      
Other segment information      
Depreciation of property, plant 
  and equipment 1,989 1,151 14 3,154  
Amortisation of intangible assets 46 33 1 80  
Performance share plan expenses 2,616 1,874 22 4,512  
      
      
Segment assets 62,614 44,866 533 108,013  
Unallocated assets      
- Deferred tax assets    688  
- Fixed deposits    37,672  
- Tax recoverable    302  
      
Total assets    146,675  
      
      
Segment assets include:      
Additions to non-current assets 2,461 1,764 21 4,246  
      
      
Segment liabilities 17,106 12,257 145 29,508  
Unallocated liabilities      
- Deferred tax liabilities    1,953  
- Borrowings (excluding lease liabilities)    20,529  
- Tax payable    1,623  
      
Total liabilities    53,613  
      

 
 Segment results 
 
 Performance of each segment is evaluated based on segment profit or loss which is measured differently from the net 

profit or loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest income 
and finance costs are not allocated to segments as Group’s financing is managed on a Group basis. 

 
 A reconciliation of segment profit to the consolidated (loss)/profit before tax is as follows: 
 Group 
  2023 2022 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 

Segment (loss)/profit (9,730) 19,814  
Interest income 683 747  
Finance costs (1,232) (926)  
    
    
(Loss)/profit before tax (10,279) 19,635  
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28 Segment information (cont’d) 
 
 Segment assets 
 
 The amounts provided to the management with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of 

the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the assets attributable to each segment for the purposes 
of monitoring segment performance and for allocating resources between segments. All assets are allocated to 
reportable segments other than deferred tax assets, tax recoverable and fixed deposits which are classified as 
unallocated assets. 

 
 Segment liabilities 
 
 The amounts provided to management with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of 

the consolidated financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments based on the operations of 
the segments other than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable and borrowings (excluding lease liabilities). These liabilities 
are classified as unallocated liabilities. 

 
 Geographical information 
 

Revenue and non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) information based on the geographical location of 
customers and assets respectively are as follows: 

 
 Group 
 Sales to 
 external Non-current 
 customers assets 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

Malaysia 23,862 53,731 54,865 31,993  
Indonesia 27,658 34,956 – –  
Others 18,748 24,351 83 281  
      
 70,268 113,038 54,948 32,274  
      

 
 Non-current assets information presented above are non-current assets as presented on the consolidated statements 

of financial position excluding deferred tax assets. 
 
 Information about major customers 
 
 Revenue from 2 (2022: 3) customers who individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue which are 

attributable to the paint-standard, paint-premium and maintenance and others segments are as detailed below: 
 
 Group 
  2023 2022 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 

Customer 1 (Paint-Standard and Paint-Premium) 14,279 16,968  
Customer 2 (Paint-Standard and Paint-Premium) – 28,340  
Customer 3 (Paint-Standard and Paint-Premium) 18,549 23,836  
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29 Capital management 
 
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholders’ value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, 
buy-back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. 

 
 The capital structure of the Group mainly consists of its total equity and borrowings and the Group’s overall strategy 

remains unchanged during the financial years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022. 
 
 
30 Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors dated 13 July 2023. 
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 27 JUNE 2023

NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES (INCLUDING TREASURY SHARES) : 334,619,787
NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES (EXCLUDING TREASURY SHARES) : 334,564,787
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL : S$19,732,622
CLASS OF SHARES : Ordinary Shares
NUMBER / PERCENTAGE OF TREASURY SHARES : 55,000 (0.0164%)
NUMBER / PERCENTAGE OF SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS : Nil
VOTING RIGHTS : 1 vote for each Ordinary Share held

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS % NO. OF SHARES %

TOTAL 242 100.00 334,619,787 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
ONG YOKE EN
LIM LAY YONG
CHANGCHOR CHOONG
LOH SHIN SIONG
UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED
KONG HEE SIONG
ONG YICK SING
CHAI FOOK CHOY
PANG HANG HIN
ONG HOW EN
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
LEE SIONG KIM
ONG YOKE HOI
CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
TAY WUU YEAN
DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED
CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD.

TOTAL 294,623,602 88.05

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS

139,152,000
45,000,000
12,750,000
12,750,000
10,659,300
10,129,100
7,984,800
7,344,000
7,329,600
6,069,800
6,024,000
6,020,200
4,453,902
3,924,000
3,179,000
2,976,000
2,783,000
2,367,800
2,187,000
1,540,100

41.59
13.45
3.81
3.81
3.19
3.03
2.39
2.19
2.19
1.81
1.80
1.80
1.33
1.17
0.95
0.89
0.83
0.71
0.65
0.46
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 27 JUNE 2023

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholdings
registered in
the name of

the substantial

Shareholdings
in which the
substantial

shareholder are Percentage of

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information provided and to the best knowledge of the Directors, approximately 34.36% of the total
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company are held in the hands of the
public as at 27 June 2023. Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules has therefore been complied with.

SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 109

Substantial Shareholder shareholder
deemed to be
interested Total issued shares

ONG YOKE EN 139,152,000 – 139,152,000 41.59
LIM LAY YONG 45,000,000 – 45,000,000 13.45
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited the
( “Company”) will be held physically at Bridge Room, Level 2, Raffles Marina Ltd, 10 Tuas West Drive,
Singapore 638404 on Fr i day , 28 July 2023 at 2.00 p.m. for the purpose of transacting the following
businesses:

As Ordinary Business:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the financial year ended
31 March 2023 and the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1 )

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association:

Mr Ong Yoke En (Regulation 98)(See Explanatory Note 1) (Resolution 2)

Ms Lim Lay Yong (Regulation 98) (See Explanatory Note 2) (Resolution 3)

Mr Lim Siang Kai (Regulation 98) (See Explanatory Note 3) (Resolution 4)

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM312 ,150 for the financial year ending 31 March
2024, to be paid quarterly in arrears. (Resolution 5)

4. To re-appoint Baker Tilly TFW LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to
fix their remuneration. (Resolution 6)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an annual general
meeting.

As Special Business:

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or
without any modifications:

6. GENERAL MANDATE TO ALLOT AND ISSUE NEW SHARES IN THE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

“That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”)
and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) (“Catalist Rules”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of
the Company to:

(A) (i) allot and issue shares in the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would
require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well
as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into
Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such
persons as the Directors of the Company shall in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(B) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force)
issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this
Resolution was in force, provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares
to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution)
does not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the total number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance
with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other
than on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company (including Shares to
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does
not exceed fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury
shares) in the capital of the Company (as at the time of passing of this Resolution);
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(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of

determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1)
above on a pro-rata basis, the percentage of the total number of issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company shall be calculated based on the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at
the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any
convertible securities;

(b) new Shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards
which are outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution,
provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of
Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the
provisions of the Catalist Rules as amended from time to time (unless such compliance has
been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Act and
the Constitution for the time being of the Company; and

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall
continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting is required by law to
be held, whichever is the earlier.”

(See Explanatory Note 4 ) (Resolution 7)

7. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue from time to
timesuch number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued
pursuant to the vesting of awards granted or to be granted under the Performance Share Plan (the
“Plan”), provided that the aggregate number of ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to the Plan and
any other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the
total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company from time to time, as
determined in accordance with the provisions of the Plan.
(See Explanatory Note 5 ) (Resolution 8)

8. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES UNDER THE EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to offer and grant options from
time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”),
and, pursuant to Section 161 of the Act, to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in
the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted
under the Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme
and any other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of
the issued share capital of the Company excluding treasury shares of the Company from time to time, as
determined in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.
(See Explanatory Note 6 ) (Resolution 9)

9. RENEWAL OF SHARE BUY BACK MANDATE

That:

(a) for the purposes of the Catalist Rules and Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the “Act”), the
exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to use Funds (as defined
hereinafter) to purchase or otherwise acquire the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”)
not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as defined hereinafter), at such price(s) as may be
determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as defined
hereinafter), whether by way of:
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(i) on-market purchases (each an “On-Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”); and/or

(ii) off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on the
SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access schemes as may be determined or formulated
by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit based on the requirements of Section
76C of the Act,

and in accordance with all other laws and regulations of Singapore and the listing rules of the SGX -
ST as may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and
unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the
Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the
Directors of the Company at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the
passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by
the law to be held;
(ii) the date on which the share purchases are carried out to the full extent mandated; or
(iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or

varied;

(c) in this Resolution:

“Funds” means internal sources of funds of the Company. Illustrations of the financial impact of the
use of Funds are set out in the Appendix;

“Maximum Limit” means that number of Shares representing ten per cent. (10%) of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the
date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has effected a reduction of the share capital of
the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act, at any time during the Relevant
Period (as defined hereinafter), in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company shall
be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered (excluding any
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings that may be held by the Company from time to time);

“Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last annual general
meeting was held and expiring on the date the next annual general meeting is held or is required by
law to be held or the date on which the share purchases are carried out to the full extent of the
Share Purchase Mandate or the date the said mandate is revoked or varied by the Company in a
general meeting, whichever is the earlier, after the date of this Resolution;

“Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means an amount (excluding
brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not
exceeding:

(i) in the case of an On-Market Purchase: 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120% of the Average Closing Price. where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a share over the
last five (5) market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the
day of the On-Market Purchase, or as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer
pursuant to the off-market purchase and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that
occurs after the relevant five (5) market days period;

“Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention
to make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating the purchase price (which shall not be more
than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each share and the relevant terms of
the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

(d) the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and
things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or
necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.”
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(See Explanatory Note 7 ) (Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Ong Yoke En
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Singapore 13 July 2023

Explanatory Notes:

1. Mr Ong Yoke En, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

2. Ms Lim Lay Yong, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Executive Director and
Chief Operating Officer of the Company.

3. Mr Lim Siang Kai, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. Mr Lim
Siang Kai is a Lead Independent Director of the Company. The Board considers Mr Lim Siang Kai to be
independent pursuant to Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules.

4. The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date
of this AGM until the date of the next AGM or the date by which the next AGM is required by law to be
held or such authority is revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to
allot and issue Shares and/or convertible securities in the Company. The aggregate number of Shares
and/or convertible securities which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution shall not exceed
one hundred percent (100%) of the total issued Shares excluding treasury shares of which the aggregate
number of Shares and/or convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total issued Shares excluding
treasury shares at the time of passing of this Resolution.

5. The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 7 above, is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue
shares on the vesting of awards under the Plan.

6. The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 8 above, is to authorise the Directors to officer and grant
options under the Scheme and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the exercise of such options under the
Scheme.

7. The Ordinary Resolution 10 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the
Company to make purchases or otherwise acquire the Company’s issued shares from time to time subject
to and in accordance with the guidelines set out in the “Appendix” section in the Company’s Annual
Report. The authority will expire at the next AGM of the Company or the date by which the share
purchases are carried out to the full extend mandated or the date on which the authority contained in the
Share Purchase mandate is revoked or varied, whichever is earlier, unless previously revoked or waived at
a general meeting.
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Notes:
(1) The members of the Company are invited to attend physically at the Annual General Meeting (the

“Meeting” or “AGM”) . There will be no option for shareholders to participate virtually. The Annual Report for
the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Appendix dated 13 July 2023 in relation to the proposed
renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate, Notice and proxy form have been made available on the SGX
website at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and may be accessed at the
Company’s website at www.samurai2kaerosol.com. Printed copies of this Notice of AGM and the
accompanying Proxy Form will be sent to members via post. Printed copies of the Annual Report will not be
sent to members. A member who wishes to obtain a printed copy of the Annual Report should request
request the same via email to hanifah@samuraipaint.jp no later than 5.00 p.m. on 18 July 2023.

(2) Members, please bring along your NRIC/passport to enable the Company to verify your identity when
you attend the AGM physically.

(3) Arrangements for participation in the AGM physically

Members (including CPFIS and SRS investors) may participate in the AGM by:

(a) Attending the AGM in person;
(b) Submitting questions to the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of, or at, the AGM; and/or
(c) Voting at the AGM (1) by themselves personally; or (2) through their duly appointed proxy(ies).

CPFIS and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting (and not third proxy(ies))
as proxy to approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes. P lease
see item 7 below for details.

In the event members encountered Covid-19 like symptoms prior to the AGM, members are strongly
encouraged to exercise social responsibility to rest at home or follow medical practitioner’s advice and
consider appoint a proxy (ies) to attend the Meeting. We encourage members to mask up when
attending the AGM.

(4) A member who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Act) is entitled to appoint
not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the AGM. Where a member
appoints more than one proxy, he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her shares to be represented by
each such proxy, failing which the nomination shall be deemed to be alternative.

(5) For any member who acts as a relevant intermediary pursuant to Section 181(6) of the Companies Act
1967 who is either:

(a) A banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or its wholly-owned subsidiary which
provides nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;

(b) A capital markets licence holder which provides custodial services for securities under the
Securities and Futures Act 2021 and holds shares in that capacity; and

(c) Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in
respect of shares purchased on behalf of CPF investor,

you are entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. The proxy needs
not be a member of the Company. Please note that if any of your shareholdings are not specified in the
list provided by the relevant intermediary to the Company, the Company may have the sole discretion to
disallow the said proxy to participate the AGM.

(6) Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the member shall specify the proportion of his/her
Shares to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to treat
the first named proxy as representing the entire number of Shares entered against his/her name in the
Depository Register and any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named or at the Company’s
option to treat the instrument of proxy as invalid.

(7) CPF/SRS Investors who hold Shares through CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators:

(a) may vote at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS
Operators, and should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators if they have any
queries regarding their appointment as proxies; or

(b) may appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy to vote on their behalf at the AGM, in which case they should
approach their CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators to submit their votes by 5.00 p.m. on 18 July 2023.
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(8) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited together with the power of attorney (if any)

under which it is signed or a notarially certified or copy thereof:

(a) if sent by post, be received at the office of the Company’s Share Register in Singapore, Boardroom
Corporate & Advisory Pte Ltd, either by hand at 1 Harbourfront Avenue Keppel Bay Tower #14 -07
Singapore 098632; or

(b) if submitted by email, be received by Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited at
srs.teamc@boardroomlimited.com

not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for the AGM in accordance with the
instructions stated herein.

A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must, complete and sign the proxy form, before
submitting it by post to the address provided above, or before scanning and sending it by email to the email
address provided above. The Company shall be entitled to and will treat any valid instrument appointing a
proxy as valid instrument for the member’s proxy to attend, speak and vote at the AGM.

(9) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his
attorney duly authorized in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by
a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or
attorney duly authorized. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an
attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy there of shall
if required by law, be duly stamped and must be lodged with the instrument.

(10) A member can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory. If a
member wishes to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, such member (whether individual or
corporation) must give specific instructions as to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on,
each resolution in the instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy. If no specific
instruction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the AGM and at any
adjournment thereof, the Chairman of the AGM will vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.

(11) In view of the guidance note issued by the Singapore Exchange Regulation, a member may ask quest ion
relating to the items on the agenda of the AGM by:

(a) submitting questions via mail to the Company’s registered office at 133, North Bridge Road, #08-03
Chinatown Point,Singapore 059413;

(b) email to agm@samurai2kaerosol.com; or
(c) if a member is attending the AGM in person, live at the AGM.

(12) All questions being submitted ahead of the AGM must be submitted by no later than 2.00 p.m. on 20 July
2023. When submitting the questions via mail or email, please provide the Company with the following
details for verification purposes:
(a) Full name;
(b) NRIC number;
(c) Current residential address;
(d) Contact number; and
(e) Number of shares held.

Please also indicate the manner in which you hold Shares in the Company (e.g. via CDP, CPF or SRS).

Please note that the Company will address substantial and relevant questions relating to the resolution to
be tabled for approval by 21 July 2023 (“Responses to Q&A”). The Company endeavours to address
(i) subsequent clarifications sought,
(ii) follow-up questions, or (iii) subsequent substantial and relevant questions which are received after
its Responses to Q&A at the AGM itself. Where substantially similar questions are received, we will
consolidate such questions and consequently not all questions may be individually addressed.

The Company will, within one month after the date of the AGM, publish the minutes of the AGM on
SGXNet.

(13) The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete,
improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from
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the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the
case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing
a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the
AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

(14) The appointment of a proxy or proxies shall not preclude a shareholder from attending and voting in person
at the AGM. If a shareholder attends the AGM in person, the appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be
deemed to be revoked, and the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit such proxy or proxies to
the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting a proxy form appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of
the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration
by the Company (or its agents) of proxies an d representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment
thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to
the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that
where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the
Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s)
for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies)
and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in
respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a resultof the member’s breach
of warranty.
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED
Company No. 201606168C
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this
Form)

IMPORTANT:

1. A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two (2) proxies to
attend the AGM and vote (please see note 4 for the definition of
“relevant intermediary”).

2. For investors who have used their Central Provident Fund (“CPF”)
and/or Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS”) monies to
buy shares in the Company, this Proxy Form is not valid for use
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or is
purported to be used by them. CPFIS and SRS investors should
contact their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators if
they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies.
CPFIS and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of
the Meeting as proxy should approach their respective CPF
Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by 5.00p.m
on 18 July 2023.

3. Please read the notes to this Proxy Form.

I/We, ______________________________________________(Name) NRIC/Passport No.______________________

of (Address)
being a member/members of SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name Address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on my/our behalf at the
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held on Friday, 28 July 2023 at 2.00p.m at Bridge Room, Level
2, Raffles Marina Ltd, 10 Tuas West Drive, Singapore 638404. and at any adjournment thereof. *I/We direct *my/our
proxy/proxies to vote on the business before the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting
is given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her/their discretion, as *he/she/they will on any
other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof. All resolutions put to vote at the AGM shall be
decided by poll.
Note: Please indicate with an “X” or number of votes in the space provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for
or against the resolutions as set out in the Notice of AGM. In the absence of specific directions or in the event of any
item arising not summarized below, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain as *he/she may think fit.

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against Abstain
1. Adoption of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 together with the Directors’
Statement and Independent Auditors’ Report

2. Re-election of Mr Ong Yoke En as a Director

3. Re-election of Ms Lim Lay Yong as a Director
4. Re-election of Mr Lim Siang Kai as a Director
5. Approval of the payment of Directors’ Fees of RM312,150 for the financial year

ending 31 March 2024
6. Re-appointment of Baker Ti l ly TFW LLP as Auditors

7. Authority to allot and issue new shares under Section 161 of the Companies Act
19678. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Performance Share Plan

9. Authority to allot and issues shares under the Employee Share Option Scheme
10. Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate

Dated this day of 2023

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s) or
Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES IN:

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 81SF of Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore or any statutory
modification thereof, as the case may be), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your
name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against your name
in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the
aggregate number of shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the
Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to
all the shares held by you.

2. A member who is not a relevant intermediary may appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her
behalf at the AGM. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he/she shall specify the proportion of his/her
shareholding to be represented by each proxy in the proxy form. If not proportion is specified, the Company shall be
entitled to treat the first named proxy as representing the entire number of Shares entered against his/her name in the
Depository Register and any second named proxy as an alternate to the first named or at the Company’s option to treat
the instrument of proxy as invalid. A proxy needs not be a member of the Company.

3. A member can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her proxy but this is not mandatory. If a member wishes to appoint
the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, such member (whether individual or corporation) must give specific instructions as to
voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument appointing the Chairman of the
AGM as proxy. If no specifc direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the AGM and at
any adjournment thereof, the Chairman of the AGM will vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.

4. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967, any member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one
or more proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to
a different share or shares held by such member. Relevant intermediary is either:

(i) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides
nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;

(ii) a capital market service licence holer which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and
Futures Act 2001 and holds shares in that capacity; or

(iii) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares
purchased on behalf of CPF investors.

5. The duly completed instrument appointing a proxy or proxies together with the letter of power of attorney, if any, under
which it is signed or a duly certified copy thereof, must be

(a) deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar in Singapore, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte
Ltd, either by hand at 1 Harbourfront Avenue Keppel Bay Tower #14-07 Singapore 098632 or by post at 1
Harbourfront Avenue Keppel Bay Tower #14-07 Singapore 098632; or

(b) if submitted by email, be received by Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited at srs.teamc@boardroomlimited.com
not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for the AGM in accordance with the instructions stated
herein.

6. Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be for or against the Resolutions as
set out in the Notice of AGM. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/she/they
may think fit, as he/she/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM.

7. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter of power of attorney
or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy;
failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the
appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.

9. In the case of a member whose shares are entered against his/her name in the Depository Register, the Company may
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares
entered against his/her name in the Depository Register seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the
AGM, as certified by the Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

10. The appointment of a proxy or proxies shall not preclude a shareholder from attending and voting in person at the AGM. If
a shareholder attends the AGM in person, the appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked, and the
Company reserves the right to refuse to admit such proxy or proxies to the AGM.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal
data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM.
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SAMURAI 2K AEROSOL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number 201606168C)

SUMMARY SHEET FOR SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

The Sponsor and the SGX-ST assume no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, reports
contained or opinions expressed in this Appendix. If you are in doubt as to the action that you should take, you should
consult your stockbroker or other professional adviser immediately.

Samurai 2K Aerosol Limited (the “Company”) maintains its accounts and publishes its financial statements in RM. This
Appendix contains conversion of certain S$ amounts into RM (or vice versa) at specified rates solely for the convenience of
the reader. Unless otherwise indicated, the financial figures in this Appendix are converted on the basis of S$1 = RM3.46.
However, such conversion should not be construed as representing that the RM amounts have been or could be converted
into S$ amounts, or vice versa, at those or any other rates.

1. Shares Purchased In The Previous Twelve Months

The Company has not made any share purchases in the last 12 months immediately preceding 27 June 2023 (the “Latest
Practicable Date”).

2. Proposed Renewal Of The Share Purchase Mandate

This ordinary resolution if passed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“2023 AGM”), will renew the
share purchase mandate (the “Share Purchase Mandate”) approved by the shareholders of the Company from the date of
the 2023 AGM and expiring on the earliest of the date the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or is
required by law to be held, the date on which the share purchases are carried out to the full extent of the Share Purchase
Mandate or the date the said mandate is revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting (the “Relevant Period”)
(the “Share Purchase Renewal Resolution”).

3. Rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate

The Share Purchase Mandate authorising the Company to purchase or acquire its ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company (“Shares”) would give the Company the flexibility to undertake share purchases or acquisitions up to the limit
described in Section 4 below at any time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share Purchase
Mandate is in force.

The rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate includes the following:

(a) The Share Purchase Mandate would provide the Company with a mechanism to facilitate the return of surplus
cash over and above its ordinary capital requirements and investment needs to its Shareholders in an
expedient and cost-efficient manner.

(b) The purchase or acquisition of Shares under the Share Purchase Mandate is one of the ways in which the
return on equity of the Company may be enhanced, thereby increasing Shareholders’ value.
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(c) The Share Purchase Mandate will allow the Directors to exercise greater control over the Company’s share
capital structure, dividend policy and cash reserves, with a view to enhancing the net tangible assets and/or
earnings per Share.

(d) The purchase or acquisition of Shares under the Share Purchase Mandate will help to mitigate short-term
share price volatility by stabilising the supply and demand of issued Shares and offset the effects of short-
term share price speculation, thereby supporting the fundamental value of the issued Shares and bolstering
Shareholders’ confidence.

(e) The Share Purchase Mandate will allow the Directors to effectively manage and minimise any dilution impact
associated with any share-based incentive scheme of the Company.

The purchase or acquisition of Shares will only be undertaken if the Directors believe that it can benefit the Company
and Shareholders. Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate may not be carried out to the full 10% limit as authorised. No purchase or acquisition of Shares will be made
in circumstances which would have or may have a material adverse effect on the liquidity of Shares or the financial
position of the Company and the Group or result in the Company being delisted. The Directors will use their best
efforts to ensure that after a purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the number
of Shares remaining in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity or adversely
affect the orderly trading and listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST.

4. Authority and Limits of the Share Purchase Mandate

The authority and limitations placed on purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the Share
Purchase Mandate, are summarised below:

(a) Maximum Number of Shares

The Company may purchase only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up. The total number of Shares that may be
purchased or acquired by the Company is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the date of the annual general
meeting (“AGM”) at which the resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate is passed (the “Approval Date”),
unless the Company has thereafter, at any time during the Relevant Period, reduced its share capital in accordance
with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, in which event the total number of issued Shares of the Company
shall be taken to be the total number of issued Shares as altered (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings).

For illustrative purposes only, based on the issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date
of 334,564,787 Shares (excluding treasury shares or subsidiary holdings), and assuming that no new Shares are
issued on or prior to the date of the AGM, not more than 33,456,478 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares
as at that date, may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

While the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the purchase or acquisition of Shares up to the 10% limit,
Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate
may not be carried out up to the full 10% limit as authorised, or at all. In particular, no purchase or acquisition
of Shares would be made in circumstances which would have or may have a material adverse effect on the
float, liquidity or orderly trading of the Shares and/or financial position of the Group.

(b) Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, from the Approval Date
up to the earliest of:

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to
be held;

(ii) the date on which the purchase or acquisition of Shares have been carried out to the full extent of
the Share Purchase Mandate; or

(iii) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is varied or revoked by an
ordinary resolution of Shareholders in a general meeting.
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The authority conferred on the Directors by the Share Purchase Mandate to purchase or acquire Shares may
be renewed at the next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened immediately after the conclusion or adjournment of the next annual general meeting. When seeking
the approval of the Shareholders for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company is required to
disclose details pertaining to purchases or acquisitions of Shares made pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate during the previous 12 months, including the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price
per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such purchases of Shares, where relevant, and the total
consideration paid for such purchases or acquisitions.

(c) Manner of Purchase or Acquisition of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made on the SGX-ST (“Market Purchases”) and/or otherwise
than on the SGX-ST, in accordance with an equal access scheme (as defined in Section 76C(6) of the
Companies Act) (“Off-Market Purchases”).

Market Purchases refer to purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company effected through the SGX-ST’s
trading system, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose.

Off-Market Purchases refer to purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company made under an equal
access scheme or schemes for the purchase or acquisitions of Shares from Shareholders. The Directors may
impose such terms and conditions, which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase Mandate, the Catalist
Rules and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of the Company in connection with or in
relation to an equal access scheme or schemes. Under the Companies Act, an equal access scheme must
satisfy all the following conditions:

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of issued shares shall be made to every person who holds
issued shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their issued shares;

(ii) all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and

(iii) the terms of all the offers are the same, except that there shall be disregarded:

(aa) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to shares with different
accrued dividend entitlements;

(bb) (if applicable) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to shares with
different amounts remaining unpaid; and

(cc) differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number
of shares.

In addition, the Catalist Rules provide that, in making an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with an equal access
scheme, the Company must issue an offer document to all Shareholders, which must contain at least the following
information:

(i) the terms and conditions of the offer;

(ii) the period and procedures for acceptances;

(iii) the reasons for the proposed share purchase or acquisition;

(iv) the consequences, if any, of share purchases or acquisitions by the Company that will arise under the
Take-over Code or other applicable take-over rules;

(v) whether the share purchase or acquisition, if made, could affect the listing of the Shares on the SGX-ST;

(vi) details of any share purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months (whether Market
Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price
per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases, where relevant, and the total
consideration paid for the purchases or acquisitions; and
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(vii) whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.

(d) Maximum Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commissions, applicable goods and services tax and
other related expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be determined by the Directors.

However, the purchase price to be paid for the Shares must not exceed:

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defined below); and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average
Closing Price (as defined below),

(the “Maximum Price”) in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase.

For the above purposes:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five Market
Days on which transactions in Shares were recorded, immediately preceding the day of the Market Purchase
by the Company or, as the case may be, the day of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market
Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after such five-market day period;
and

“day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to make an
offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from Shareholders, stating the purchase price (which shall not
be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of
the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.

5. Status of Purchased or Acquired Shares

Any Share which is purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or
acquisition (and all rights and privileges attached to that Share will expire on such cancellation), unless such Share is
held by the Company as a treasury share. At the time of each purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company, the
Directors will decide whether the Shares purchased or acquired will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares, or partly
cancelled and partly kept as treasury shares, as the Directors deem fit in the interests of the Company at that time.

(a) Cancelled Shares

Shares which are cancelled will be automatically delisted by the SGX-ST, and certificates in respect thereof will be
cancelled and destroyed by the Company as soon as reasonably practicable following the settlement of such
purchased Shares. The total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of Shares purchased or
acquired by the Company which are cancelled and not held as treasury shares.

(b) Treasury Shares

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury
shares. Some of the key provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below:

(i) Maximum Holdings

The aggregate number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number
of issued Shares. Any Shares in excess of this limit shall be disposed of or cancelled in accordance with the
applicable provisions of the Companies Act before the end of the period of six months beginning with the day
on which that contravention occurs, or such further period as the Registrar may allow.

(ii) Voting and Other Rights

The Company shall not exercise any right in respect of the treasury shares and any purported exercise of
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such a right is void. In particular, the Company will not have the right to attend or vote at meetings and for the
purposes of the Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury
shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution (whether in cash or otherwise) of the
Company’s assets may be made, to the Company in respect of the treasury shares. However, the allotment
of shares as fully paid bonus shares in respect of the treasury shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision or
consolidation of any treasury share into treasury shares of a greater or smaller number is allowed, so long as
the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation is the same as before.

(iii) Disposal and Cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time (but subject always to the Take-
over Code):

(aa) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(ab) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to any share scheme, whether for
employees, directors or other persons;

(ac) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another
company or assets of a person;

(ad) cancel the treasury shares; or

(ae) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by
the Minister for Finance.

Under Rule 704(31) of the Catalist Rules, an immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer,
cancellation and/or use of treasury shares (in each case, the “usage”). Such announcement must include details
such as the date of the usage, the purpose of the usage, the number of treasury shares comprised in the usage,
the number of treasury shares before and after the usage, the percentage of the number of treasury shares
comprised in the usage against the total number of issued shares (of the same class as the treasury shares)
which are listed on the Catalist before and after the usage, and the value of the treasury shares if they are used
for a sale or transfer or cancelled.

6. Source of Funds

The Companies Act permits the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares out of capital or distributable profits so
long as the Company is solvent. For this purpose, the Company is solvent if at the date of payment for the Shares
purchased or acquired, the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) there is no ground on which the Company could be found to be unable to pay its debts;

(b) if:

(i) it is intended to commence winding up of the Company within the period of 12 months immediately after
the date of the payment, the Company will be able to pay its debts in full within the period of 12 months
after the date of commencement of the winding up; or

(ii) it is not intended so to commence winding up, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
during the period of 12 months immediately after the date of the payment; and

(c) the value of the Company’s assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including) contingent liabilities)
and will not, after the purchase or acquisition of Shares, become less than the value of its liabilities (including
contingent liabilities).

The Company intends to use internal sources of funds or external borrowings, or a combination of internal resources
and external borrowings, to finance the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.
However, in considering the option of external borrowing, the Directors will consider particularly the prevailing gearing
level of the Company and the costs of such financing.
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7. Financial Effects

It is not possible for the Company to realistically calculate or quantify the impact of purchases that may be made
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the net tangible asset value or earnings per Share as the resultant effect
would depend on factors such as the aggregate numbers of Shares purchased, the purchase prices paid at the
relevant times, whether the Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury or immediately cancelled on purchase
or acquisition, how the Shares held in treasury are subsequently dealt with by the Company in accordance with
Section 76K of the Companies Act, and the amounts (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases.

Where the purchase of Shares is made out of distributable profits, such purchase (including costs incidental to the
purchase) will correspondingly reduce the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.
Where the purchase of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the
Company will not be reduced.

Where the purchase of Shares is financed through internal resources, it will reduce the cash reserves of the Group and
the Company, and thus the current assets and shareholders’ funds of the Group and the Company. This will result in
an increase in the gearing ratios of the Group and the Company and a decline in the current ratios of the Group and
the Company. The actual impact on the gearing and current ratios will depend on the number of Shares purchased or
acquired and the prices at which the Shares are purchased or acquired.

Where the purchase or acquisition of Shares is financed through external borrowings or financing, there would be an
increase in the gearing ratios of the Group and the Company, and a decline in the current ratios and shareholders’
funds of the Group and the Company, with the actual impact dependent on the number of Shares purchased or
acquired and the prices at which the Shares are purchased or acquired.

For illustrative purposes only and on the basis of the following assumptions:

(a) that the purchase or acquisition by the Company of Shares was made on 1 April 2022

(b) that (i) in the case of the purchase or acquisition of Shares made entirely out of capital, the Company
purchased or acquired 16,728,239 Shares, representing 5% of its issued Shares (excluding treasury shares
and subsidiary holdings) as at 31 March 2023, and (ii) in the case of the purchase or acquisition of Shares
made entirely out of profits, the Company purchased or acquired 1,672,823 Shares, representing 0.50% of its
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at 31 March 2023;

(c) that (i) in the case of Market Purchases, the Company purchased or acquired Shares at the Maximum Price
of S$0.16464 for each Share (being 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five Market
Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date),
and (ii) in the case of Off-Market Purchases, the Company purchased or acquired Shares at the Maximum
Price of S$0.18816 for each Share (being 120% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five
Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable
Date)

(d) that the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company was financed entirely using its internal sources of
funds and required funds amounting to:

(i) in the case of Market Purchases made entirely out of capital, S$2,754,137.27 (equivalent to
RM9,529,314.95);

(ii) in the case of Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital, S$3,147,585.45 (equivalent to
RM10,890,645.66);

(iii) in the case of Market Purchases made entirely out of profits, S$275,413.58 (equivalent to
RM952,930.98); and

(iv) in the case of Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of profits, S$314,758.38 (equivalent to
RM1,089,063.98).

(e) the transaction costs incurred for the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase
Mandate are insignificant and have not been taken into account in computing the financial effects.
The financial effects of Share purchases by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023, are set out below.
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Scenario 1

Purchase or acquisition of 16,728,239 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate made
entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Group Company

Before Share
Purchase

After Share Purchase Before
Share

Purchase

After Share Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

As at 31 March 2023 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Share capital 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165

Reserves (9,206) (9,206) (9,206) 651 651 651

Retained earnings 27,461 27,461 27,461 (8,601) (8,601) (8,601)

Treasury shares (64) (9,593) (10,955) (64) (9,593) (10,955)

Non-controlling interest (210) (210) (210) - - -

Total shareholders’ equity 75,146 65,617 64,255 49,151 39,622 38,260

Net tangible assets 72,782 63,253 61,891 49,151 39,622 38,260

Current assets 73,314 63,785 62,423 35,488 25,959 24,597

Current liabilities 31,139 31,139 31,139 4,700 4,700 4,700

Total borrowings 32,929 32,929 32,929 - - -

Number of Shares(1) (‘000) 334,565 317,837 317,837 334,565 317,837 317,837

Weighted average number of
Shares (1) (‘000)

334,565 317,837 317,837 334,565 317,837 317,837

Financial Ratios

Net tangible assets per Share(2)
(sen)

21.75 19.90 19.47 14.69 12.47 12.04

Earnings per Share (sen) (3.42) (3.60) (3.60) (3.41) (3.59) (3.59)

Gearing ratio(3) (times) 0.44 0.50 0.51 - - -

Current ratio(4) (times) 2.35 2.05 2.00 7.55 5..52 5.23

Notes:

(1) Excluding treasury shares.

(2) Net tangible assets per Share is computed based on total net assets less deferred expenditure, other intangible assets
and non-controlling interests, divided by the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

(3) Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds (excluding non-controlling interest).

(4) Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
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Scenario 2

Purchase or acquisition of 1,672,823 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate made
entirely out of profits and held as treasury shares

Group Company

Before Share
Purchase

After Share Purchase Before
Share

Purchase

After Share Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

As at 31 March 2023 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Share capital 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165

Reserves (9,206) (9,206) (9,206) 651 651 651

Retained earnings 27,461 27,461 27,461 (8,601) (8,601) (8,601)

Treasury shares
(64)

(1,017) (1,153) (64) (1,017) (1,153)

Non-controlling interest (210) (210) (210) - - -

Total shareholders’ equity 75,146 74,193 74,057 49,151 48,198 48,062

Net tangible assets 72,782 71,829 71,693 49,151 48,198 48,062

Current assets 73,314 72,361 72,225 35,488 34,535 34,399

Current liabilities 31,139 31,139 31,139 4,700 4,700 4,700

Total borrowings 32,929 32,929 32,929 - - -

Number of Shares(1) (‘000) 334,565 332,892 332,892 334,565 332,892 332,892

Weighted average number of
Shares(1) (‘000)

334,565 332,892 332,892 334,565 332,892 332,892

Financial Ratios

Net tangible assets per Share(2)
(sen)

21.75 21.58 21.54 14.69 14.48 14.44

Earnings per Share (sen) (3.42) (3.44) (3.44) (3.41) (3.43) (3.43)

Gearing ratio(3) (times) 0.44 0.44 0.44 - - -

Current ratio(4) (times) 2.35 2.32 2.32 7.55 7.35 7.32

Notes:

(1) Excluding treasury shares.

(2) Net tangible assets per Share is computed based on total net assets less deferred expenditure, other intangible assets
and non-controlling interests, divided by the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

(3) Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds (excluding non-controlling interest).

(4) Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
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Scenario 3

Purchase or acquisition of 16,728,239 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate made
entirely out of capital and cancelled

Group Company

Before Share
Purchase

After Share Purchase Before
Share

Purchase

After Share Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

As at 31 March 2023 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Share capital 57,165 47,636 46,274 57,165 47,636 46,274

Reserves (9,206) (9,206) (9,206) 651 651 651

Retained earnings 27,461 27,461 27,461 (8,601) (8,601) (8,601)

Treasury shares (64) (64) (64) (64) (64) (64)

Non-controlling interest (210) (210) (210) - - -

Total shareholders’ equity 75,146 65,617 64,255 49,151 39,622 38,260

Net tangible assets 72,782 63,253 61,891 49,151 39,622 38,260

Current assets 73,314 63,785 62,423 35,488 25,959 24,597

Current liabilities 31,139 31,139 31,139 4,700 4,700 4,700

Total borrowings 32,929 32,929 32,929 - - -

Number of Shares(1) (‘000) 334,565 317,837 317,837 334,565 317,837 317,837

Weighted average number of
Shares(1) (‘000)

334,565 317,837 317,837 333,565 317,837 317,837

Financial Ratios

Net tangible assets per Share(2)
(sen)

21.75 19.90 19.47 14.69 12.47 12.04

Earnings per Share (sen) (3.42) (3.60) (3.60) (3.41) (3.59) (3.59)

Gearing ratio(3) (times) 0.44 0.50 0.51 - - -

Current ratio(4) (times) 2.35 2.05 2.00 7.55 5.52 5.23

Notes:

(1) Excluding treasury shares.

(2) Net tangible assets per Share is computed based on total net assets less deferred expenditure, other intangible assets
and non-controlling interests, divided by the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

(3) Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds (excluding non-controlling interest).

(4) Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
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Scenario 4

Purchase or acquisition of 1,672,823 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate made
entirely out of profits and cancelled

Group Company

Before Share
Purchase

After Share Purchase Before
Share

Purchase

After Share Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

Market
Purchase

Off-
Market

Purchase

As at 31 March 2023 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Share capital 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165 57,165

Reserves (9,206) (9,206) (9,206) 651 651 651

Retained earnings 27,461 26,508 26,372 (8,601) (9,554) (9,690)

Treasury shares (64) (64) (64) (64) (64) (64)

Non-controlling interest (210) (210) (210) - - -

Total shareholders’ equity 75,146 74,193 74,057 49,151 48,198 48,062

Net tangible assets 72,782 71,829 71,693 49,151 48,198 48,062

Current assets 73,314 72,361 72,225 35,488 34,535 34,399

Current liabilities 31,139 31,139 31,139 4,700 4,700 4,700

Total borrowings 32,929 32,929 32,929 - - -

Number of Shares(1) (‘000) 334,565 332,892 332,892 334,565 332,892 332,892

Weighted average number of
Shares(1) (‘000)

334,565 332,892 332,892 334,565 332,892 332,892

Financial Ratios

Net tangible assets per Share(2)
(sen)

21.75 21.58 21.54 14.69 14.48 14.44

Earnings per Share (sen) (3.42) (3.44) (3.44) (3.41) (3.43) (3.43)

Gearing ratio(3) (times) 0.44 0.44 0.44 - - -

Current ratio(4) (times) 2.35 2.32 2.32 7.55 7.35 7.32

Notes:

(1) Excluding treasury shares.

(2) Net tangible assets per Share is computed based on total net assets less deferred expenditure, other intangible assets
and non-controlling interests, divided by the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

(3) Gearing ratio equals total borrowings divided by shareholders’ funds (excluding non-controlling interest).

(4) Current ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.

Shareholders should note that the financial effects set out above are purely for illustrative purposes only. In
particular, it is important to note that the above analysis is based on historical FY2023 audited numbers and is not
necessarily reflective of the future financial performance of the Company and the Group. Although the Share
Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or acquire up to 10% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), the Company may not purchase or acquire or be able to
purchase or acquire 10% of the issued Shares in full. In addition, the Company may cancel all or part of the Shares
purchased, or hold all or part of the Shares purchased in treasury.
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8. Catalist Rules

Under the Catalist Rules, a listed company may purchase shares by way of Market Purchases at a price per share
which is not more than 5% above the average of the closing market prices of the shares over the last five Market Days,
on which transactions in the shares were recorded, before the day on which the purchases were made and deemed to
be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period. The Maximum Price for a Share in
relation to Market Purchases by the Company, referred to in Section 4(d) of this Circular, conforms to this restriction.

The Catalist Rules specify that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST
not later than 9.00 a.m. (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase or
acquisition of any of its shares and (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the
second Market Day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement must include details of the date of
the purchases of the shares, the total number of shares purchased, the number of shares cancelled, the number of
shares held as treasury shares, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such shares (as
applicable), the total consideration (including stamp duties and clearing charges) paid or payable for the shares, and
the cumulative number of shares purchased. Such announcement will be made in the form prescribed by the Catalist
Rules.

While the Catalist Rules do not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any particular
time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase or
acquisition of its issued shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the
proposed Share Purchase Mandate at any time after a price sensitive development has occurred or has been the
subject of a decision until the price sensitive information has been publicly announced. In particular, in observing the
best practices recommended in the Catalist Rules on securities dealings, the Company will not purchase or acquire any
Shares through Market Purchases during the period of one month before the announcement of the Company’s half-
year and full-year financial statements.

9. Listing Status on the SGX-ST

The Company is required under Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules to ensure that at least 10% of its issued Shares
(excluding preference shares, convertible equity securities and treasury shares) are in the hands of the public. The
“public”, as defined in the Catalist Rules, are persons other than the Directors, Chief Executive Officer, substantial
shareholders and controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates (as defined in
the Catalist Rules) of such persons. Please ensure that the public float is consistent with the statistics of shareholdings.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were approximately 114,964,787 issued Shares in the hands of the public (as
defined above), representing approximately 34.36% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company. Assuming
that the Company purchases its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share
Purchase Mandate and holds the purchased Shares as treasury shares, the number of issued Shares in the hands of
the public would be reduced to 81,508,309 Shares, representing approximately 27.07% of the total number of issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has 55,000
treasury shares and did not have any preference shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has granted
309,000 and 1,845,000 employees share options (“ESOS”) expiring on 2 June 2029 and 30 May 2031 respectively to
selected employees which will entitle them to subscribe for a total of 2,154,000 new shares of the Company.

In view of the foregoing, the Company is of the view that there is, at present, a sufficient number of Shares in public
hands that would permit the Company to potentially undertake purchases of its Shares through Market Purchases up to
the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate without:

(a) affecting adversely the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST;

(b) causing market illiquidity; or

(c) affecting adversely the orderly trading of Shares.
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10. Tax Implications

When a company purchases its own shares using its distributed profits or contributed capital, it will be regarded as
any other disposal of shares by the shareholders from whom the shares are acquired.

For income tax purposes, whether or not the proceeds received by the Shareholders are taxable in the hands of
the Shareholders who sell their Shares to the Company for which the purchases were made out of distributed
profits or contributed capital will depend on whether such proceeds are receipts of an income or capital nature.

Shareholders should note that the foregoing is not to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any
Shareholder. Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or the tax implications of
Share purchases by the Company, or, who may be subject to tax whether in or outside Singapore, should
consult their own professional advisers.

11. Implications of Take-over Code

11.1 Obligation to Make a Take-over Offer

If as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, a Shareholder’s proportionate interest
in the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of
the Take-over Code. If such increase results in a change in control, or as a result of such increase a Shareholder
or group of Shareholders acting in concert obtain or consolidate control, it may in certain circumstances give rise
to an obligation on the part of such Shareholder or Shareholders to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the
Take-over Code.

The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them
respectively will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 after a purchase of Shares by the
Company are set out in Appendix 2 (“TOC Appendix 2”) of the Take-over Code.

In relation to Directors and persons acting in concert with them, Rule 14 provides that unless exempted (or if
exempted, such exemption is subsequently revoked), Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur
an obligation to make a take-over offer if, as a result of a purchase of Shares by the Company:

(a) the percentage of voting rights held by such Directors and their concert parties in the Company
increases to 30% or more; or

(b) if they together hold between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, their voting rights increase
by more than 1% in any period of six months.

Under TOC Appendix 2, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors will not be required to make a take-
over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing its Shares, the voting rights of such
Shareholder would increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the
Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase by more than 1% in any period of
six months. Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the Share
Purchase Mandate.

11.2 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to an
agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal) co-operate, through the acquisition by any of them of
shares in a company to obtain or consolidate control of that company. Unless the contrary is established, the
following persons will, inter alia, be presumed to be acting in concert: (i) a company with any of its directors,
together with their close relatives, related trusts as well as companies controlled by any of the directors, their
close relatives and related trusts; and (ii) a company, its parent company, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries,
and their associated companies, and companies of which such companies are associated companies, all with
each other. For this purpose, ownership or control of at least 20% but not more than 50% of the voting rights of a
company will be regarded as the test of associated company status.
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11.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr Ong Yoke En (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company), Ms Lim Lay Yong (Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of the Company, and wife of Mr Ong
Yoke En), Mr Ong How En (brother of Mr Ong Yoke En) and Ms Ong Yoke Hoi (sister of Mr Ong Yoke En), who
are deemed to be acting in concert with each other, collectively held 58.01% of the issued Shares. They would not
be obliged to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or
acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

Shareholders who are in any doubt as to whether they would incur any obligation to make a take-over
offer as a result of any purchase of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are
advised to consult their professional advisers and/or the SIC and/or other relevant authorities at the
earliest opportunity before they acquire any Shares during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate
is in force.

12. Reporting Requirements

Within 30 days of the passing of the Shareholders’ resolution to approve the Share Purchase Mandate, the
Directors shall lodge a copy of such resolution with the Registrar.

The Directors shall lodge with the Registrar a notice of Share purchase within 30 days of a Share purchase. Such
notification shall include the date of the purchase, the number of Shares purchased by the Company, the number
of Shares cancelled, the number of Shares held as treasury shares, the Company’s issued share capital before
and after the purchase, the amount of consideration paid by the Company for the purchase, whether the Shares
were purchased out of the profit or the capital of the Company, and such other particulars as may be required in
the prescribed form.

Within 30 days of the cancellation or disposal of treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, the Directors shall lodge with the Registrar the notice of cancellation or disposal of treasury
shares in the prescribed form.

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

The interests of the Directors and substantial Shareholders in the share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date, as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and Register of Substantial
Shareholders, are as follows:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Number of Shares % of
Issued
Share

Capital (1)

Number of Shares % % of
Issued
Share

Capital (1)

Directors

Ong Yoke En 139,152,000 41.59 - -

Lim Lay Yong 45,000,000 13.45 - -

Dato’ Chang Chor Choong 12,750,000 3.81 - -

Dato’ Loh Shin Siong 12,750,000 3.81 - -

Lim Siang Kai - - - -

Hau Hock Khun - - - -

Lim Chong Huat - - - -

Substantial Shareholders (other
than Directors) - - - -

Note:
(1) Based on the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date, comprising 334,564,787 Shares
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings).
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14. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this
Appendix and confirm after making all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this
Appendix constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the Share Purchase Mandate, the
Company and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any
statement in this Appendix misleading. Where information in this Appendix has been extracted from published or
otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has
been to ensure that such information has been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or
reproduced in this Appendix in its proper form and context.

15. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the registered office of the Company at 133 North Bridge
Road, #08-03 Chinatown Point, Singapore 059413, during normal business hours from the date of this Appendix
up to and including the date of the AGM:

(a) the Constitution of the Company; and

(b) the Annual Report of the Company for FY2023.




